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WHO 
WE
ARE

Our mission is to be the world leader in the specification- 
grade LED lighting market. We are passionately committed 
to delivering an unbeatable customer experience, combining  
the most innovative lighting solutions with deep industry 
knowledge and superior customer service.

Founded
2006

Employees
446 (April 2015)*

Headquarters
Montreal, Canada

Regional Headquarters and Office Locations
US Headquarters: Boston
EMEA Headquarters: London
SE Asia Headquarters: Singapore
France Headquarters: Paris
Lumenpulse Québec City Office
Lumenpulse AlphaLED Office: Manchester

Manufacturing Facilities 
Montreal, Canada
Manchester, UK
Québec City, Canada

Notable Projects 
BC Place, Vancouver
Sunrail, Orlando
H&M, New York
US National Archives, Washington DC
The Shard, London
GM Headquarters, Detroit
Space Shuttle Atlantis, Cape Canaveral, Florida

1 Lumenfacade luminaires help pay tribute to   
 shipping history at the Maison du Pilote   
 in Québec City.

2 The all-new Lumenline, featuring lit corners   
 and new LED technology. 

3 The Lumenpulse offices in Boston, Massachusetts.

4 Lumenalpha downlights and spotlights are ship- 
 ping now in North America. 

5 The Lumenpulse booth at Lightfair International  
 2015, in New York City.

*Including full-time equivalent temporary manufacturing employees

Please review the note in the Report to Shareholders section on page 35 concerning 
the use of Forward-Looking Statements, which applies to the entirety of this Annual 
Report.



(In millions CAN$ – except per share data) Fiscal years ended April 30
 
INCOME STATEMENT 2015 2014 2013 2012
Revenues – total 100.7 62.2 42.3 31.6
Revenues – Lumenpulse products  88.5 48.5 30.2 18.7
EBITDA 1.6 (1.9) (7.6) (5.1) 
Adjusted EBITDA 1 3.7 0.4 (6.0) (2.5)
Net Loss (0.4) (49.2) (18.1) (7.0)
Adjusted net income (loss) 1 1.8 (4.5) (9.4) (5.4)
EPS (loss) – diluted 2, 3  ($0.02) ($4.17) ($1.57) ($0.58) 
Ajusted EPS (loss) – diluted 1, 2, 3 $0.07 ($0.38) ($0.81) ($0.44)
 
FINANCIAL POSITION
Total assets 130.5 117.8 27.5 22.0
Cash and cash equivalents 43.5 87.1 1.2 1.7
Debt 4 0.3 0.2 8.9 7.7
Shareholder equity 107.8 105.3 (25.8) (3.3)
 
CASH FLOW
Operating cash flow 5 1.9 (3.1) (7.6) (3.5)
Changes in non-cash working capital (8.2) (2.4) (2.3) (2.3)
Capital expenditures  (5.0) (2.6) (2.8) (2.5)
Cash flow after capital expenditures (11.3) (8.1) (12.7) (8.3)

1 See “Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures” in the Report to Shareholders for FY 2015.

2 Per share amounts reflect retroactively the 8.4 to 1 consolidation of the common shares, that occurred in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 
2014. Preceding the IPO, redeemable shares at the option of the holders were not included in the loss per share calculation.

3 The calculation for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 includes 1,775,167 stock options which are deemed to be dilutive. In 
the periods where net losses are incurred, stock options have been excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share.

4 Including current and long-term portion of debt and finance lease obligations.

5 Cash flow from operating activities before net changes in non-cash working capital.
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Financial
Highlights

• Acquisition of UK-based Projection Lighting Limited (AlphaLED) 

• Value-added reseller (“VAR”) signed in Japan

• New products showcased at Lightfair International in Las Vegas

• Implemented manufacturing efficiency initiatives 

• Initiated phase-in of new LED chip technology 

• Company delivered its first profitable quarter 

• Addition of several new VARs in Latin America 

• Lumenpulse and AlphaLED showcased at Luxlive in London, UK

• High-output Lumenbeam XLarge HO luminaires brought to market

• Lumencove Nano wins Next Generation Luminaires Award

• UL safety certification obtained for Lumenalpha product family

• Lumenalpha downlights and spotlights launched in North America

• Lumenpulse office opened in Paris, France 

• VAR signed in Ireland

• Finalized the phase-in of more efficient, next generation LED chips

• Acquisition of Québec City-based Ariane Controls

• Acquisition of Québec City-based SDL Lighting 

• Quickship, a fast-track delivery program, is established

• New generation of Lumenline is launched

• Lumenbeam family upgraded to new generation of LED technology

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

62% 
Consolidated  

Revenue Growth

83% 
Lumenpulse Product

Revenue Growth

43% 
Consolidated Adjusted 

Gross Margin
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CEO Letter 

Dear Fellow Shareholders, 

Fiscal 2015 marked our first full year as a public company, and 
I could not be prouder of our accomplishments to date. In many 
ways, it was a milestone year for Lumenpulse, with a financial per-
formance that broke new ground; key acquisitions that advanced 
our growth strategy; and innovative new products and technolo-
gies that continue to break industry norms. 

The impact of these achievements has been substantial and imme-
diate. We are now in an excellent position to support our growth 
strategy. This strategy involves the ongoing development of more 
cutting-edge specification-grade LED lighting products and tech-
nologies in both current and new vertical markets; the expansion 
of our international footprint; and the continued leveraging of our 
sales network and distribution channels.  

Financial Highlights
Overall, our financial performance in Fiscal 2015 was very robust, 
with a significant improvement in profitability. We delivered 
consolidated revenues of $100.7 million, a significant year-over-
year growth of 62%, with 83% growth for Lumenpulse Products. 
Approximately one-third of our revenues for Fiscal 2015 were 
derived from international markets, up from 9% last year. This is 
in great part due to the significant contribution of AlphaLED that 
strengthened our presence in the UK and also to having doubled 
our organic sales outside North America. To aid this growth 
abroad, we established a Lumenpulse office in France and added 
several international value-added resellers (VARs) over Fiscal 2015.

We attained positive Adjusted EBITDA of 4%, or $3.7 million, with 
a record-level 7% Adjusted EBITDA margin in the fourth quarter. 
This EBITDA margin level was achieved largely because of the 
improved Lumenpulse Products Adjusted Gross Margin of 45%, 
47% on Lumenpulse-native Products. Additionally we continued to 
leverage our adjusted operating expenses which decreased by 2 
percentage points to 39%. I am also very proud to report that for the 
last three quarters we generated a positive Adjusted Net Income, 
contributing to an Adjusted diluted EPS of $0.07 for Fiscal 2015.

Key Acquisitions
During the last fiscal year, we completed the acquisitions of two 
leading LED manufacturers: UK-based Projection Lighting (known 
as AlphaLED), and Québec City-based SDL lighting and one 
control company: Ariane Controls. With these acquisitions, we 
were able to bolster the Lumenpulse product portfolio, adding 
AlphaLED’s wide range of LED downlights and spotlights, as 
well as SDL’s bollards, columns, pole-top, and building-mounted 
luminaires. These products were all fully complementary to our 
existing line of products and opened access to vertical markets in 
which we had little or no presence. These include retail, office and 
hospitality markets, as well as area, urban, pedestrian-scale and 

" Overall, our financial performance in Fiscal  
 2015 was very robust, with a significant  
 improvement in profitability."

20
15François-Xavier Souvay

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

implement a cost-effective, modern lighting system on a bridge that 
is 7,975 feet (2,431 m) long, and close to 120 feet (37 m) high.

Increased Addressable Market 
All told, with our internal product development and key acquisi-
tions, we ended the year with a portfolio of over 300 products. 
This product portfolio can now address approximately 50% of the 
total specification-grade market, up from approximately 20% last 
year at the time of our IPO.

Manufacturing Efficiency
Throughout Fiscal 2015, we took several steps to strengthen our 
supply chain. We extended our ERP platform to distributors and 
contract manufacturers, improving our inventory visibility. We 
also solidified relationships through new contractual agreements. 
We pursued industrialization and automation of manufacturing 
processes, with computerized testing systems that improved trace-
ability, quality control and productivity.

Our Montreal facility was also expanded to support the 
Lumenalpha family and our recently launched fast-track 
“Quickship” delivery program. Finally, we invested in inventory 
to support our customer service satisfaction program, which is 
aimed at reducing lead-time and ensuring stronger on-time  
delivery. These initiatives place us in a solid position to meet 
increasing demand, both in North America and abroad.

A Word of Thanks
Lumenpulse’s continued growth and success comes as a result of 
the talents and dedication of our employees. I would like to take 
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude for their efforts 
and dedication. Their ability to unite behind the Company’s vision 
underpins all of our achievements to date. I also wish to thank our 
growing customer base for their belief in our innovative design 
and product families; our agents and VARs for their dedication 
and constant feedback; our suppliers for their continued support; 
as well as our Board of Directors for its counsel and commitment. 
Finally, I want to thank our shareholders for supporting Lumenpulse 
in its first full year as a public company. I am confident that, 
together, we will be able to create substantial long-term value.

professional landscape lighting markets. 

Both our SDL and AlphaLED acquisitions also added LED exper-
tise in new vertical segments, and with our acquisition of Ariane 
Controls, we added critical knowledge in powerline communica-
tion and a key patent to our intellectual property portfolio which 
relates to the technology embedded in our Lumentalk offering. 

Expanding our Product Portfolio
Substantial efforts, across multiple functional areas of the compa-
ny, were made to integrate the AlphaLED product lines, including 
cross-training on products and obtaining UL certification for the 
North American market. Once completed, we brought AlphaLED 
to America under the Lumenalpha name. Market reaction to 
Lumenalpha was very positive. We now hope to replicate this suc-
cess with future acquisitions, starting with the ongoing integration 
of SDL Lighting solutions, now rebranded as Lumenarea.

With regards to our proprietary technology, we ended the year 
with 53 patents, up from 22 patents at the start of the year, reflect-
ing a continued expansion of our IP portfolio and our commitment 
to protect our intellectual property.

Early in the year we phased-in a new generation of LED technolo-
gy, which led to the upgrade of several product families, including 
Lumenbeam, Lumenfacade, and Lumencove. More recently at 
Lightfair 2015, we unveiled Lumenray, a new range of optics 
for office applications requiring exceptional light uniformity and 
efficiency. We also presented the Lumencove XT Direct View, a 
system of direct view linear LED luminaires for media facades 
and architectural delineation on large-scale structures, including 
bridges and towers.

Products we launched in Fiscal 2014, including the Lumenfacade 
Inground, Lumencove Nano, and Lumenbeam LBX HO, as well as 
our Lumendrive technology, were all progressively introduced this 
year. These products gained important footholds in the LED market 
in Fiscal 2015, and have allowed us to expand the versatility of 
our product offering and address new markets.

It was also an important year for our Lumentalk technology. 
Lumentalk is a proprietary powerline communication technology 
that turns existing electrical wiring into a communication link for 
data. With Lumentalk, traditional lighting systems can be up- 
graded to LED without having to open walls and ceilings for data 
re-wiring. Interest for this breakthrough technology has grown 
progressively since its launch in 2012, and the market has now 
begun to understand the impact Lumentalk can have on retrofits, 
large-scale structures, and heritage buildings – applications that 
would have once been prohibitively costly to upgrade. One only 
has to look at the Blatnik Bridge in Minnesota to see the difference 
Lumentalk can make: with this technology, designers were able to 



Guiness Storehouse, Dublin, Ireland 
Lighting design: Michael Grubb Studio
Photographer: James Newton
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1 Achieving profitability

2 Extending our reach in international markets

3 Expanding our product portfolio and proprietary technologies

4 Entering new vertical markets and increasing our addressable market

5 Improving manufacturing efficiency

Breaking 
new ground
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• Leveraging our sales network

• Expanding our products and technologies

• Increasing our geographical coverage

• Volume increase

• Manufacturing efficiency

• Value engineering

• Material-cost reductions

• Leveraging our workforce 
and infrastructure

1 Achieving profitability

Top-line growth

Gross margin 

expansion

Operational 

leverage

We attained 4% Adjusted EBITDA in FY 2015, a record high. Our goal is to gradually increase our 
profitability through continued top-line growth, gross margin expansion and operational leverage.

Profitability drivers:

Revenue performance
(In millions CAN$)

Our revenue growth continues to outpace that of the LED lighting market.

Lumenpulse Products
10 ×

Top-line growth

62.2

FY 2014

13.7

48.5

100.7

FY 2015

12.2

88.542.3

FY 2013

12.1

30.2

31.6

FY 2012

12.9

18.7

20.2

FY 2011

11.8

8.4

Lumenpulse Products (LP)

Other Manufacturers Products (OMP)

80% CAGR  
LP products for FY 

2011 – 2015.

Consistently delivering growth over the last 5 fiscal years.
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FY 2013

36% 42% 43% 48% to 50%

FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2019 Goal

Consolidated Adjusted 
Gross Margin

Adjusted gross margins

 Gross margin expansion

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015

Lumenpulse Products (LP)

Lumenpulse-native Products

Other Manufacturers Products (OMP)

50%

45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

38%

44%
45%
47%

35%

33%
36%

We pursue different business models for 
different markets, with a constant effort to 
improve gross margins within each market 
through volume growth, manufacturing
efficiency, value engineering and  
material-cost reductions. 

Our Adjusted Gross Margin for Lumenpulse 
Products reached 45% in FY 2015, with 
47% for Lumenpulse-native Products.

We are 
creating value 
by delivering 

margins among the 
highest in the 

industry.

18% to 20%(14)% 1% 4%

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015

50% 41% 39%Adjusted Operating 
Expenses %

Adjusted 
EBITDA margin

Revenues per employee1 and year-end employee count

 Operational leverage

To achieve our goals, we have taken steps to grow 
our talent base over the past 3 years. We have 
seen an increase in revenues per employee, as well 
as higher productivity, confirming the successful 
leveraging of our operations. 

The efficiency improvement has allowed us to 
reduce our Adjusted Operating Expenses from 50% 
in FY 2013 to 39% in FY 2015. We will pursue our 
efforts to drive further gains.

1 Based on the average number of employees, including full-time   

 equivalent temporary manufacturing employees

FY 2019 Goal

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015

Year-end employee count

Revenue per employee (in thousands CAN$) 1

Over the past few 
years we have built 
a company that can 
support our projected 

growth. 

$223
$250

$278

446

278

219
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For FY 2015, approximately one-third of our revenues were derived from international markets.

Several key accomplishments are contributing to our success:

• Synergies created with AlphaLED

• Increased penetration in the Middle East

• Successful entry in Latin America

• The opening of a new office in France

• The addition of several VARs covering Uruguay, Argentina, Costa Rica, Honduras, 
Guatemala, Ireland, Japan, South Korea and Taiwan

• Completion of the RETILAP certification for the Colombia market

2 Extending our reach in international markets

The Shard, London, UK Lumenpulse Paris, France

FY 2014 FY 2015

Diversifying our geographical markets outside North America
International revenues as % of consolidated revenues

International revenues 
(In millions CAN$)

FY 2014 FY 2015

International Lumenpulse-native Products

International Lumenpulse Products – In-year acquisitions

Revenues – North America

Revenues – International 

31.1

11.6

19.5

5.7

9%

32%

In-year acquisitions contributed $19.5 million of Lumenpulse 
Product revenues, confirming the success of the AlphaLED acquisition 
and establishing a solid base for future growth.

International revenues for Lumenpulse-native Products doubled  
year-over-year from $5.7M to $11.6M.

5 ×
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53
patents granted

300+
products

...through research and development

• New LED generations: Lumenbeam, Lumenfacade, Lumenline, Lumencove

• Lumenbeam HO

• Lumenalpha series for the North American market

• Lumencove XT Direct View

• Lumenray, a new range of optics 
 

... and acquisitions

In July 2014, we acquired all of the assets of Projection Lighting Limited (AlphaLED)

• Adding a wide range of LED spotlights, tracklights and downlights 

In February 2015, we acquired Ariane Controls

• Adding expertise in powerline communication and a key patent relating to a technology 
embedded in our Lumentalk offering 

In March 2015, we acquired SDL Lighting

• Adding bollards, columns, pole-top and building-mounted luminaires

3 Expanding our product portfolio and proprietary technologies

lumenarea street and area

lumenalpha downlight

lumenline 2.0

lumenarea bollards and columns

lumenalpha spot
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Hospitality Offices Transport

Landscape Bridges

Retail & 
Shopping 
Centers 

Facades Urban

The acquisitions of AlphaLED and SDL Lighting added complementary LED solutions to the 
Lumenpulse product portfolio, accelerating entry into the retail, museum, hospitality, area, 
urban, pedestrian and professional landscape lighting segments.
 
These additions, combined with the execution of our multiyear product roadmap, increased 
our addressable market from approximately 20% last year, to 50% of the total specification- 
grade market today. 

4 Entering new vertical markets and increasing our    
 addressable market

Museums

20%

50%

Increasing
our reach 
in the 
specification- 
grade 
market

From

To
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5 Improving manufacturing efficiency

• Expansion of manufacturing capacity in Montreal to support:

 - The launch of Lumenalpha in North America 
 - Our new Quickship Program 

• Industrialization and automation allowing for improved productivity, traceability and quality 
control through the implementation of:

 - A computerized testing sytem 
 - A sealant robot  
 - A vacuum testing system 

• Strenghtening our supply chain through the extension of our ERP platform to our distributors 
and contract manufacturers and through new contractual agreements.
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Breaking from 
the pack

Superior Products 
and Strong Design 

Over 300 LED products spread  
across more than 30 distinct product  

families, combining innovative 
technology expertise with strong 

industrial design.

 
 

Pure Play 

Lumenpulse targets the specification-
grade lighting segment exclusively, 

without having to protect market share 
associated with traditional lighting 

technology.

 
 

Customer Centric 

Lumenpulse is committed to delivering 
an unbeatable customer experience, 
pairing innovative lighting solutions 
with deep industry knowledge and 

superior customer service.

 
Well-Established 
Sales Channel 

New offices in England and France 
have expanded the international 

footprint, bolstering a strong, well-
established North American sales 

force and network of agents  
and VARS.
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1 US National Archives, Washington DC, US

2 Cobo Center, Detroit, MI, US

3 Space Shuttle Atlantis, Cape Canaveral, FL, US

4 Ripley's Aquarium of Canada, Toronto, ON, Canada

5 90 State Street, Albany, NY, US

Customer 
Testimonials

Lumenpulse was the only 
company that could meet our 
strict performance criteria.”

Steven Rosen 
Available Light

“

The Lumenbeam fixtures were ideal 
for our high-ceiling project. We were 
impressed with their performance, 
physical quality, dimming range and 
options.”

Robert M. White  
Illuminart

“

1

2

From small floods and grazing 
fixtures, to cove luminaires and 
extra-large beams, Lumenpulse 
really gives you every single tool 
you need to do the job.”

Paul Boken 
Mulvey+Banani International Inc.

“

Lumentalk was absolutely critical. Due to 
the historic nature of the space, we faced 
numerous wiring limitations and structural 
issues. Lumentalk made the conversion process 
simpler and much more cost effective.”

Jamie Thompson 
American Energy Care

“

Lumenpulse fixtures were a perfect 
fit, particularly since they offered 
tighter distribution options in high-
wattage, high-lumen packages.”

Paula Martinez-Nobles 
Fisher Marantz Stone

“

3

4

5
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1 Calgary Tower, Calgary, Alberta, Canada  
 Lighting design: Optics Lighting

2 Building Energy Exchange, New York, NY, US

3 H&M New York City, NY, US 
 Lighting design: DPA Lighting

4 Sunrail, Orlando, FL, US 
 Lighting design: TLC Engineering for Architecture

5 RJ Corman Bridge, Clarksville, TN, US 
 Lighting design: Tennessee Lighting Sales

6 Jollys house of Fraser, Manchester, UK

7 Portman News Offices, London, UK 

Breakthrough 
projects

2

1

3

4

5

6

7
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• Expand our addressable markets 

• Expand existing and develop new geographic markets 

• Execute on our product development roadmap 

• Implement our national account strategy in North America 

• Pursue roll-out of Lumenalpha and Lumenarea families into our network of agents and VARs 

• Continue to promote our Quickship program 

• Increase production capacity utilization and drive profitability through operating leverage 

• Continue to evaluate potential acquisitions that fit within our strategy

Breaking away and 
moving forward

Greenway Echelman Sculpture, Boston, MA, US
Lighting design: Arup
Photographer: Roberto Farren, Matt Conti
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Lighting design: Lightraze
Photographer: Ian Grant
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Management's Discussion and Analysis Management's Discussion and Analysis

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION 

Basis of Presentation 

The following has been prepared for the purpose of providing Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of our financial 
position as at April 30, 2015 as well as at April 30, 2014 and of our results of operations for the year ended April 30, 2015 and 
2014. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes thereto, which 
are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). This MD&A has been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Canadian Securities Administrators. All references in this MD&A to “Fiscal 2013”, “Fiscal 2014” and to 
“Fiscal 2015” are to the Company’s fiscal years ended April 30, 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively. Unless otherwise noted or 
the context otherwise indicates, “we”, “us”, “Lumenpulse” and the “Company” refers to Lumenpulse Inc. and its subsidiaries and 
predecessors. All references herein to “$” or “dollars” are to Canadian dollars, unless indicated otherwise. This MD&A reflects 
information available to the Company as at June 17, 2015, the date on which it was approved by our Board of Directors. 

This MD&A makes reference to certain non-IFRS measures. These non-IFRS measures are not recognized measures under IFRS, do not 
have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other 
companies. Rather, these measures are provided as additional information to complement those IFRS measures by providing further 
understanding of our results of operations from management’s perspective. Accordingly, they should not be considered in isolation 
nor as a substitute for analysis of our financial information reported under IFRS.  

We use non-IFRS measures including EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income (Loss), Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted 
Operating Expenses, Adjusted Selling and Marketing Expenses, Adjusted Research and Development Expenses, Adjusted General 
and Administrative Expenses and Adjusted Earnings (Loss) per share- basic and diluted to provide investors with supplemental 
measures of our operating performance and thus highlight trends in our core business that may not otherwise be apparent when 
relying solely on IFRS financial measures. EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest and other financing costs, income taxes, and 
depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA less unusual and non-recurring items, and non-cash share-
based compensation. Unusual and non-recurring items is defined as expenses incurred for the initial public offering (“IPO”) and 
acquisition-related costs. Adjusted Net Income (Loss) is defined as net income (loss) before net change in carrying value of the 
redeemable shares at the option of the holders and related financial derivative liability, early repayment fee on long-term debt, 
unusual and non-recurring items net of taxes, and non-cash share-based compensation. Adjusted Gross Profit is defined as gross profit 
before non-cash share-based compensation and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted Operating Expenses is defined as 
operating expenses less non-cash share-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, and unusual and non-recurring items. 
Adjusted Selling and Marketing Expenses is defined as selling and marketing expenses less non-cash share-based compensation, 
and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted Research and Development Expenses is defined as research and development 
expenses less non-cash share-based compensation, and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted General and Administrative 
Expenses is defined as general and administrative expenses less non-cash share-based compensation, depreciation and 
amortization, and unusual and non-recurring items. Adjusted Earnings (Loss) per share- basic is defined as the Adjusted Net Income 
(Loss) on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Adjusted Earnings per share- diluted is 
defined as the Adjusted Net Income on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period and all 
potentially dilutive stock options. Adjusted Loss per share- diluted is defined as the Adjusted Net Income on the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. In the periods where the Company incurred net losses, all potentially 
dilutive stock options have been excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share. All outstanding share options could 
potentially dilute earnings per share in the future. 

For a reconciliation of net income (loss) to EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income (Loss), a reconciliation of gross profit 
to Adjusted Gross Profit, a reconciliation of operating expenses to Adjusted Operating Expenses, a reconciliation of selling and 
marketing expenses to Adjusted Selling and Marketing Expenses, a reconciliation of research and development expenses to Adjusted 
Research and Development Expenses and a reconciliation of general and administrative expenses to Adjusted General and 
Administrative Expenses, see section 3.2.1 “Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures”. 

Forward-Looking Information 

This MD&A contains “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation. Such forward-
looking information includes, but is not limited to, information with respect to our objectives and the strategies to achieve these 
objectives, as well as information with respect to our beliefs, plans, expectations, anticipations, estimates and intentions. This 
forward-looking information is identified by the use of terms and phrases such as “may”, “would”, “should”, “could”, “expect”, 
“intend”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “plan”, “foresee”, “believe”, or “continue”, the negative of these terms and similar terminology, 
including references to assumptions, although not all forward-looking information contains these terms and phrases. Forward-looking 
information is provided for the purposes of assisting the reader in understanding the Company’s financial performance, financial 
position, cash flows, its business, operations, prospects and risks at a point in time, and to present information about management’s 
current expectations and plans relating to the future and therefore the reader is cautioned that such information may not be 
appropriate for other purposes.  

Forward-looking information is based upon a number of assumptions and is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of 
which are beyond our control, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those that are disclosed in or implied by such 
forward-looking information. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the following risk factors, which are 
discussed in greater detail under section 7 “Risk Factors”. 

Although the forward-looking information contained herein is based upon what we believe are reasonable assumptions, investors are 
cautioned against placing undue reliance on this information since actual results may vary from the forward-looking information. 
Certain assumptions made in preparing the forward-looking information and our objectives include: our ability to generate sufficient 
revenue while controlling our costs and expenses; our ability to manage our growth effectively; the absence of material adverse 
changes in our industry or the global economy; trends in our industry and markets; our ability to manage risks related to international 
expansion; our ability to maintain good business relationships with our agents and value-added resellers; our ability to expand our 
sales and distribution infrastructure and our marketing; our ability to develop products and technologies that keep pace with the 
continuing changes in technology, evolving industry standards, new product introductions by competitors and changing client 
preferences and requirements; our ability to purchase components for our products at competitive prices; our ability to protect our 
intellectual property rights; the absence of intellectual property infringement or invalidity claims against us; our ability to manage and 
integrate acquisitions; our ability to retain key personnel; and our ability to raise sufficient debt or equity financing to support our 
business growth. 

Consequently, all of the forward-looking information contained herein is qualified by the foregoing cautionary statements, and there 
can be no guarantee that the results or developments that we anticipate will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they 
will have the expected consequences or effects on our business, financial condition or results of operation. Unless otherwise noted or 
the context otherwise indicates, the forward-looking information contained herein is provided as of the date hereof, and we do not 
undertake to update or amend such forward-looking information whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, 
except as may be required by applicable law. 
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1. Business Strategy and Capabilities

1.1. Overview 
The Company was founded in 2006. We design, develop, manufacture and sell a wide range of high performance and 
sustainable specification-grade LED lighting solutions for commercial, institutional and urban environments. We develop our solutions 
by combining a wide range of highly configurable LED fixtures with our superior control systems and our patented and proprietary 
control, binning, dimming and thermal management technologies. Our products cover multiple lighting applications and offer 
numerous configurations, allowing specifiers (i.e., architects, engineers, landscape architects and lighting designers) to solve various 
lighting challenges from small office interiors to large stadiums and resorts.  

Our LED lighting solutions provide many benefits over traditional incandescent, halogen, fluorescent and HID lighting technologies, 
including lower energy consumption, longer life spans, absence of hazardous materials, decreased maintenance costs and greater 
design flexibility. In addition, we believe our R&D, design and engineering capabilities, the breadth and quality of our products, our 
innovative control technologies, our relationships with specifiers and distribution channels, our demonstrated ability to integrate and 
support Lumenpulse technologies with other manufacturers’ products and our seasoned management team position us favourably as 
LEDs are expected to progressively replace traditional lighting technologies.  

Our high performance and sustainable specification-grade LED lighting solutions are promoted through our internal direct sales force 
and sales support team, a strong network of over 80 agents and Value-Added Resellers (“VARs”) which create a combined presence 
of over 400 outside sales professionals in North America as well as a growing number of VARs in EMEA, APAC and Latin America, 
enabling us to build and maintain relationships with a broad audience of specifiers. We also act as a VAR of specification-grade 
lighting equipment for over 15 North American and European manufacturers in the Province of Québec and in the UK.  

We employ approximately 446 employees: 315 employees in Canada, including 56 full-time equivalent manufacturing temporary 
employees, 84 employees in EMEA and APAC, including 10 full-time equivalent manufacturing temporary employees and 
47 employees in the United States.  

Additional information about the Company can be found at www.lumenpulse.com and www.sedar.com. 

1.2. Key Business Strategies 

1.2.1. Focus on the Specification-Grade LED Lighting Solutions Market Segment 

We serve the specification-grade lighting solutions market segment where specifiers establish strict technical requirements for a given 
project. We target this market segment exclusively, where we believe our attractive value proposition is recognized and sought after 
by specifiers, due to our products’ versatility, consistency and quality of light, durability, sustainability and controllability being key 
differentiating factors. During the fourth quarter, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of SDL Lighting Inc. (“SDL”), a 
designer and manufacturer of outdoor LED luminaires, adding a fully complementary line of products of high performance 
architectural, area, urban, pedestrian and professional landscape lighting segment solutions to our product portfolio. Along with the 
asset acquisition of Projection Lighting Limited (“Projection Lighting” or “AlphaLED”) and the introduction of new products in early 
Fiscal 2015, we have continued to expand our addressable market throughout the year with a wide variety of products. 

Management expects the LED market share in the general lighting market to grow from a 9% share in 2011 to a 69% share in 
2020. As a result, management forecasts the general lighting market for LED products to grow at a compound annual growth rate 
of 31% between 2011 and 2020. Management’s estimates are based on internal research, its knowledge of the relevant market 
and industry and extrapolations from third-party sources. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding the market and 
industry data presented herein, such data involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors. 

1.2.2. Focus on the Lumenpulse Product Revenues Segment 

While we have developed and continue to enhance our own portfolio of specification-grade LED products and technologies 
(“Lumenpulse Products” or “LP”) which allows us to differentiate ourselves in the specification-grade LED lighting solutions market 
segment, we also act as a VAR of specification-grade lighting equipment of other manufacturers (“Other Manufacturers Products” or 
“OMP”) in the Province of Québec and in the UK.  

We intend to remain primarily focused on growing our sales of Lumenpulse Products. As our addressable market coverage increases 
over time, we expect OMP revenues to reduce and therefore decline as a portion of our total revenues. Taking into account the 
existing gross margin differential between Lumenpulse Products and OMP, we expect this anticipated change of revenue mix to have 
a favourable impact on our gross margin going forward. OMP revenues represented 8.5% and 12.1% of the consolidated revenues, 
respectively, for the fourth quarter ended April 30, 2015 and Fiscal 2015, down from 13.4% and 22.1% for the comparable 
periods last year. 

1.2.3. Pursue our Growth Strategy 

Our goal is to become a world leader in high performance and sustainable specification-grade LED lighting solutions by leveraging 
the strength of our North American distribution channels, expanding our market reach by establishing new international distribution 
channels, adding new products and technologies to our current portfolio through on-going product development and a disciplined 
acquisition strategy.  During the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015, products from in-year acquisitions contributed an additional $6.8 
million and $20.5 million, respectively, to our consolidated revenues and allowed us to enter new segments. 

Recently, we further expanded our International VAR network by signing agreements with two new VARs in South Korea and Taiwan. 
In addition, a new National Account organization was created to better serve large multi-location retail and hospitality accounts 
within North America and provide a more focused approach to this vertical within our existing network. Moreover, our sales 
presence in France and Latin America has begun to translate into revenues and efforts being made should contribute to further growth 
in the quarters ahead. See Section 3 “Results”.   

1.2.4. Expand Gross Margin and Achieve Profitability 

In parallel to our goal of becoming a world leader in high performance and sustainable specification-grade LED lighting solutions, 
management plans to expand gross margin and achieve profitability by:  

• Deriving benefits from leveraging its manufacturing operations through economies of scale;

• Increasing the proportion of higher-margin Lumenpulse Products sold in North America and internationally versus
OMP sold in the Province of Québec and in the UK;

• Developing strategies to continuously reduce input costs; and

• Continuing to focus our efforts on increasing operational efficiencies and excellence.

In late Fiscal 2014 and throughout Fiscal 2015 we launched various initiatives to improve our gross margin. These initiatives 
included: 

• Introducing overall price increases on our products, which have favourably impacted our gross margins from the second
quarter throughout the end of the year;

• Continuously negotiating prices with our major contract manufacturers, LED module providers and power supply vendors to
reduce our material costs;

• Improving manufacturing efficiency and increasing production capacity utilization; and

• Introducing new products and technologies, such as the Lumendrive technology incorporated in our Lumencove Nano
product, which eliminates the need for a power supply.
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1.3. Capabilities 
Factors that affect our capability to execute our strategy, manage key performance drivers and deliver results: 

North American Channel Penetration: Over the years, we have developed a strong network of agents and VARs, offering what 
management believes to be full coverage of the market in Canada and the United States. We are represented by more than 80 
agents and VARs which create a combined presence of over 400 outside sales personnel promoting our high performance and 
sustainable LED lighting solutions to the market. Our team, comprised of approximately 21 sales representatives, 20 sales engineers 
and technicians and 29 customer support personnel, has proven capable of supporting a significant number of agents and VARs. 
Given our strong network of agents and VARs in North America and our relationships with specifiers servicing that market, we 
believe that our current product portfolio, including the recently launched Lumenalpha line of products (“Lumenalpha”) and the newly 
acquired product portfolio of SDL Lighting Inc. (“SDL”) still has untapped potential and provides us with significant opportunities to 
grow our business further.   

During May 2015, we participated in Lightfair International in New York City. Lightfair is the world’s largest annual architectural and 
commercial lighting tradeshow and conference. We were very pleased with the market response regarding the Lumenalpha line of 
products which was launched in early February in the North American market and showcased for the first time during this event. 
Along with the introduction of the new Lumenray range of optics, we have introduced various improvements to our existing lines of 
products. Lightfair was also a great opportunity to provide a preview of the newly acquired SDL Lighting Inc. (“SDL”) product 
portfolio, now known as Lumenarea.  

In addition, the new National Account organization created to better serve large multi-location retail and hospitality accounts will 
contribute to further penetrate this vertical within the North American market. Finally, we continue to invest in marketing and training 
activities with the purpose of increasing the depth of product knowledge within our network of agents and VARs.  

New Product Offerings: Over the last three years, our R&D team, which includes approximately 49 employees, has enabled the 
launch of more than 45 products. They also ensure continuous improvement to our products and technologies including regular 
upgrades to the next-generation of existing line of products. With over 300 different products spread across more than 30 distinct 
line of products, management believes that our LED product range constitutes a comprehensive offering and compares favourably to 
the LED product range offered by most of our competitors in the product categories and applications currently addressed by 
Lumenpulse.  

The acquisition of AlphaLED, completed during the first quarter of Fiscal 2015, increased our growth potential significantly by 
expanding our addressable market with a wider variety of complementary LED solutions. AlphaLED products have distinguished 
themselves for their performance and durability, with more than 500,000 units sold and projects successfully completed in over 40 
countries. This acquisition was in line with our strategy of growing our Lumenpulse Product revenues both organically and through 
acquisition. Though AlphaLED is well-established in Europe and Asia, these products have been beyond the reach of North American 
specifiers until recently. The acquisition of Alphaled led to the successful launch of Lumenalpha in early February following a 
substantial investment in capacity and resources to adapt this line of products for the North American market, obtain required 
certification and deployment throughout our existing agent network.  Lumenalpha is a line of high-performance LED downlights and 
spotlights for commercial, retail, institutional and hospitality applications for the North American market. The launch included 16 LED 
luminaires converted from the successful European AlphaLED products. Lumenalpha enhances Lumenpulse’s position in the fast-
expanding commercial, retail, institutional and hospitality LED lighting markets, offering a comprehensive program of feature-rich, 
high-performance, architectural downlights and spotlights. Available in single or multi-head combinations, and delivering up to 
3,000 lumens, Lumenalpha Downlights are a durable, flexible alternative to halogen and metal halide lighting systems. Lumenalpha 
Spotlights, meanwhile, provide an optimal replacement for conventional track-mounted luminaires, with more options, longer life, 
improved color stability and lower energy consumption.  

During the fourth quarter, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of SDL Lighting Inc. (“SDL”), a designer and 
manufacturer of outdoor LED luminaires adding fully complementary LED solutions to the product portfolio. The acquisition of this line 
of products significantly expanded our addressable market; and will accelerate our entry into the high performance architectural 
area, urban, pedestrian and professional landscape lighting segments. SDL’s portfolio counts more than 150 products including 
bollards, columns, pole-top and building-mounted luminaires now known as Lumenarea. Revenue from this line of products is 
expected to progressively impact the Company’s results with a more significant contribution in 12 to18 months as we look to 
integrate our technologies and roll-out to our agent network new training and marketing programs. Additionally, given the nature of 
the projects and markets addressed by Lumenarea, we expect a sales cycle that will go beyond our current lines of products.  
Lumenarea will be used to address many opportunities in the institutional, commercial and urban environment segments that by nature 
have a longer sales cycle. 

During May 2014, we launched 15 new products including the Lumenfacade Inground, Lumencove Nano, and Lumenbeam LBX 
HO, as well as our Lumendrive technology and various new features, including DMX/RDM, Dynamic Warm and the lit corner option 
for Lumenline. These were introduced throughout the fiscal year, gradually gaining market acceptance, and allowing us to expand 
the versatility of our product offering and address new markets.   

1.3. Capabilities (continued)

In March 2015, we launched the second generation of Lumenline and Lumenbeam, by adding the latest generation of LED 
technology, and we upgraded the entire range of Lumenline luminaires with an innovative quick connect design. This line of products 
is expected to increase our competitiveness in the office lighting sector with better performance, faster installation and greater 
versatility.  As for the enhanced Lumenbeam, it significantly increases performance and efficacy across the entire range of luminaires. 
More recently at Lightfair, in May 2015, we unveiled Lumenray, a new range of optics that provide exceptional uniformity with 
outstanding setback and spacing ratios, with asymmetric wallwash, grazing, and linear wayfinding. We have also presented the 
Lumencove XT Direct View, a system of direct view linear LED luminaires for media facades and architectural delineation on large-
scale structures, including bridges and towers. Products are usually developed over six to nine months followed by an additional 
period of six to twelve months to introduce the product into the market and gain market acceptance. Some of our new products are 
expected to be at the higher end of this target range with nine to twelve months to be fully introduced to market and contribute more 
significantly to revenues. These efforts are expected to provide significant opportunities for the Company to achieve its growth 
objectives. 

As of April 30, 2015, we also held 53 patents and 70 patents pending, allowing us to differentiate our solution offering. 
Management believes the Company’s product offering and technology platform is expandable to other product categories and 
applications currently not targeted by Lumenpulse, thereby providing an attractive opportunity for expansion and growth. 
Additionally, in early February, we have acquired all of the shares of Ariane Controls Inc. (“Ariane”), a company based in Québec 
City. Ariane is comprised of a team of five experts in Powerline Communication (“PLC”) Technology and with whom we have built a 
solid working relationship over many years. With this acquisition, we will benefit from their unique skills and highly trusted expertise. 
As a leader in its field, Ariane holds a patented modulation technology embedded in their Application-Specific Integrated Circuit 
(ASIC), which is used in Lumenpulse’s Lumentalk offering. This acquisition will better position us to accelerate the adoption of our 
Lumentalk technology, and further develop its full market potential. 

International Expansion: We believe our offices in London and Manchester, England, Paris, France, our presence in Latin America, 
and Hong Kong, our existing network of VARs in South-East Asia, the Middle East, Japan, Australia, New Zealand and the 
Scandinavian countries, establish a solid framework upon which to increase our international market coverage. For Fiscal 2015, 
International revenues totaled $31.9 million or 31.7% of total revenues. We also invested in our marketing activities by participating 
in LuxLive, London UK, as well as other regional tradeshows, which has allowed us to increase our visibility and demonstrate the 
performance and flexibility of our Lumenpulse Products lines and technologies, enhanced by the addition of AlphaLED products. 

Manufacturing and Supply Chain: Our manufacturing strategy is to focus on final assembly, configuration and testing of our LED 
lighting products using reliable global manufacturers with the necessary infrastructure and access to a sophisticated supply-chain. In 
line with our manufacturing improvement initiatives launched in Fiscal 2014, further supply chain improvements were launched during 
the current fiscal year. We established a planning and strategic sourcing organization to provide forecasts to our key partners, 
strengthen supplier relationships, mitigate risks and reduce our material costs.  During Fiscal 2015, we formalized our relationship 
with some of our major partners, reducing our supply and delivery risks and finalized the phase-in of a more efficient LED package. 
Additionally, we invested significantly for the North American production of the Lumenalpha line of products and the launch of a 
quick ship program that now offers a reduced lead-time for specific product configurations. These investments include additional 
inventory as well as new production lines that were installed in the 17,000 additional square feet added to our current leased 
facility. We also invested in inventory to support our customer service satisfaction program which is reducing lead-time and ensuring 
stronger on-time delivery. During the fourth quarter, we continued to invest by industrializing and automating activities, including a 
sealant robot to standardise and improve both productivity and quality, and the addition of an automated vacuum testing system to 
ensure more reliable water-resistant tests. Both of these investments apply to our linear exterior line of products. Finally, we 
implemented a new computerized assembly and testing system that allows for improved efficiency as well as quality assurance and 
default detection in real-time.  
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1.4. Assessment of the Company’s Performance against the Guidance 
In the Company’s final prospectus dated April 7, 2014, guidance for the next 5 years was provided with regards to revenue 
growth, Adjusted Gross Profit margin and Adjusted EBITDA margin. 

Our fourth quarter ended April 30, 2015 and Fiscal 2015 show solid year-over-year revenue growth and Lumenpulse Products 
margin improvement.  Below, we highlight some key financial indicators trend:   

• Consolidated revenues increased by 81.8% to $31.0 million and 61.8% to $100.7 million, respectively, for the fourth
quarter and Fiscal 2015 from $17.0 million and $62.2 million for the comparable periods last year.

• Lumenpulse Product revenues increased by 92.2% to $28.4 million and by 82.5% to $88.5 million, respectively, for the
fourth quarter and for Fiscal 2015 from $14.8 million and $48.5 million for the comparable periods last year. Lumenpulse
Product revenues included, respectively, $6.7 million and $19.7 million related to in-year acquisitions.

• On the international front, when compared to the same periods last year, our revenues increased approximately by three
times and six times, to reach $8.9 million and $31.9 million, respectively, for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015.  The
increases included respectively $6.6 million and $20.3 million related to in-year acquisitions.

• For the fourth quarter, Adjusted Lumenpulse Products Gross Profit margin, when excluding in-year acquisitions, slightly
increased at 46.7% from 46.3%. When factoring in-year acquisitions, the Adjusted Gross Profit margin for the fourth
quarter went from 45.3% for the comparable period last year to 43.6% due to the expected lower margin contribution of
in-year acquisitions. For Fiscal 2015, Adjusted Gross Profit margin improved from 42.0% to 43.4%, when compared to the
same period last year, benefiting from the higher proportion of Lumenpulse Products and their Adjusted Gross Profit margin,
which improved from 44.0% to 44.8%.

• Adjusted EBITDA increased to 6.5% and 3.7% as a percentage of revenues for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015 when
compared to 0.3% and 0.7%, respectively, for the same period last year.

• Adjusted Net Income increased to $0.8 million and to $1.8 million in the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015 from losses of
$1.3 million and $4.5 million, respectively, when compared to the same period last year, including a foreign exchange
loss of $0.8 million for the fourth quarter and a foreign exchange gain of $0.7 million for Fiscal 2015.

We reiterate herein that management’s objectives are to continue growing Lumenpulse’s business at a growth rate exceeding the 
growth rate in the general lighting market for LED products and, over time, converging towards market growth, to reach an Adjusted 
Gross Profit margin of approximately 50%, and to reach an Adjusted EBITDA margin of approximately 18% to 20% within the next 
four years.  

These objectives are based upon a number of assumptions and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are 
beyond our control. These risks and uncertainties could cause actual results to differ materially from these objectives. See section 7 
“Risk Factors”.  

2. Influence Factors

2.1. Revenue 
The Company’s revenues are reported in two segments: Lumenpulse Products and OMP. Lumenpulse Product revenues are derived 
from the sale of Lumenpulse Products to electrical wholesale distributors, VARs, and directly to contractors or end-customers. OMP 
revenues are derived from the distribution of third party LED products in the Province of Québec and the UK where Lumenpulse acts 
as a VAR.   

Our business has experienced moderate seasonality over the years.  For example, due to winter weather conditions that are less 
favourable to construction and new outdoor installation programs, revenues generated from products related to exterior lighting 
projects tend to be lower in the third quarter ending January 31. Furthermore, our third quarter revenues are also moderately 
impacted by the holiday season. At this stage of our growth, we know our business will experience seasonal fluctuations, but the 
pattern and the extent of how it will affect demand going forward is difficult to predict.   

2.2. Cost of Sales 

2.2.1. Material Costs 

Lumenpulse Products cost of sales includes raw material and sub-assembly costs generated through third-party supplier purchases. As 
such, the Company is exposed to price fluctuations of certain materials such as aluminum and steel. In addition, the Company is 
exposed to price fluctuations of electronic components. The Company does not hedge its exposure to price fluctuations of 
commodities and electronic components. Consequently, in the event that the Company is not able to increase the price of its 
products to reflect material cost fluctuations, an increase of some input costs could impact operating results. Historically, we have 
been able to increase the prices of our products and have negotiated short- to medium-term trade agreements with key suppliers; as 
such the Company remains confident in its ability to mitigate material cost fluctuations.   

2.2.2. Warranty Costs 

The Company’s limited product warranty generally covers a period of five years following the date of shipment to the customer, with 
the exception of the ten-year limited warranty on the Lumencove Nano recently introduced. The Company records a warranty 
provision when products are sold. Management believes that, based on available information, the Company records adequate and 
sufficient provisions.  

2.3. Selling and Marketing Expenses 
Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and expenses for our selling and marketing staff, including commissions 
paid internally and to our agents. Selling and marketing expenses also include marketing programs which consist of advertising, 
events, corporate communications, brand building and product marketing activities.  

Our intention is to increase our investment in programs designed to gain even stronger visibility with our current partners and 
specifiers and drive more project attributions. Among other things, we plan to expand the reach of our training and educational 
programs beyond the first tier of lighting experts towards the more general specifier audience composed of architects, engineers, 
landscape architects and interior designers. We also intend to make additional strategic investments to expand our international 
market coverage. Finally, we will continue to expand the deployment of additional sales professionals in order to increase our brand 
awareness and generate additional revenue with specifiers in EMEA, APAC and Latin America, where we currently have a limited 
presence or no presence at all.  

2.4. Research and Development (“R&D”) Expenses 
R&D expenses include the cost of our research and development and product design teams. These expenses mainly consist of 
salaries, other benefits, and consulting fees.  

The Company incurs R&D expenses in Canada and receives Canadian Scientific Research and Experimental Development 
investment tax credits (“ITCs”) for certain eligible expenditures. Investment tax credits are netted against the Company’s R&D 
expenses. We are eligible for the provincial refundable tax credits at a rate of 14%. However, we are not eligible for federal 
refundable investment tax credits; instead our R&D costs will generate non-refundable tax credits that can only be applied against 
income taxes payable. Given the history of losses of the Company, we do not expect to record any federal tax credits. R&D 
spending is expected to grow proportionately with sales in future years as we develop new products and technologies. Long term, 
we expect R&D expenses to represent approximately 4% to 5% of total revenues.   

In addition to the Canadian ITCs, we are eligible to R&D tax credits within the United Kingdom. Since we qualify as a Small and 
Medium Enterprise (“SME”), we benefit from an investment tax credit of 25% which is applied against the Company’s R&D expenses. 

The acquisition of the shares of Ariane Controls Inc. completed in the fourth quarter have also enhanced our R&D efforts by adding 
new resources to our team that enrich our know-how in hardware, firmware and software development. 

2.5. General and Administrative Expenses 
General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related expenses for finance and accounting, human resources, 
information technology, investor relations and legal departments. It also includes professional fees, insurance and other corporate 
expenses. We expect general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars in order to support our growth which may 
be either organic or through future acquisitions. Over time, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues are 
expected to decline.  
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2.6. Interest and Other Financing Costs 
Up until its IPO, the Company had Class “A” Preferred shares that were designated as financial liabilities in accordance with IFRS, 
the balance of which increased over time due to the change in the fair value of the redeemable preferred shares. In the fourth quarter 
of Fiscal 2014, these shares were converted into Class “A” Common shares. As a result, the corresponding liability was reduced to 
nil, with a corresponding increase in equity coupled with the impact of fair value revaluation due to the conversion. We have 
recorded significant non-cash expenses related to this liability in Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013. Going forward, given the conversion 
of the Class “A” Preferred shares to Class “A” Common shares and given all banking facilities were repaid using the proceeds of the 
IPO in Fiscal 2014, interest and financing costs, in the near-term, are expected to be nil or to generate interest income. Interest and 
other financing costs also include loss (gain) on foreign exchange resulting from our operations. 

2.7. Income Taxes 
The Company is subject to federal, state and provincial income taxes in jurisdictions in which it conducts business. The Canadian 
income tax statutory rate was 26.9% for Fiscal 2015. However, the Company’s effective consolidated tax rate is influenced by the 
combination of its profits or losses before income tax. The Company expects to pay cash taxes for coming years in all tax 
jurisdictions except for Lumenpulse Lighting Inc., its Canadian subsidiary, where the Company intends to utilize its tax attributes to 
offset taxable income once the profitability has been achieved. With respect to the history of losses, no deferred tax assets have 
been recorded in Fiscal 2015. As of April 30, 2015, the Company has accumulated approximately $38 million in operating tax 
losses and other deductions that are not recognized on our statement of financial position. These operating tax losses start to expire 
in 2031. Recognition of any of the share issuance costs tax attributes in the future would be recognized directly in shareholders’ 
equity, as an increase of share capital once the criteria for recognition have been met.  

2.8. Foreign exchange 

Foreign exchange gains and losses are mainly the result of the translation of operating activities denominated in currencies other than 
our functional currency, which is the Canadian dollar. We value assets, liabilities and transactions that are measured in foreign 
currencies using various exchange rates as required by IFRS.   

A portion of our foreign exchange gains or losses result from the translation of cash balances and other balance sheet items 
denominated in US dollars and British pounds.   

The Company currently generates a considerable percentage of its revenues in US dollar while a large portion of its expenses are 
also in US dollar, which considerably reduces our exposure and hedges the currency risks. We expect this situation to eventually 
change as our US dollar denominated sales increase at a faster pace than our US dollar denominated expenses.  

3. Results

3.1. Financial Highlights 

3.1.1. Highlights of the Fourth Quarter and the Fiscal Year ended April 30, 2015 

For the fourth quarter ended April 30, 2015:  

• Lumenpulse Product revenues reached $28.4 million, an increase of 92.2% over the same period last year, including $6.7
million related to in-year acquisitions;

• International revenues increased to $8.9 million from $3.0 million for the same period last year;

• Adjusted Lumenpulse Products Gross Profit margin, when excluding in-year acquisitions, improved to 46.7% from 46.3%;

• Adjusted EBITDA increased to $2.0 million from $0.1 million for the same period last year. As a percentage of total
revenues, the Adjusted EBITDA margin increased to 6.5%; and

• Despite a $0.8 million foreign exchange loss, Adjusted Net Income increased to $0.8 million in the fourth quarter of Fiscal
2015 from a loss of $1.3 million last year.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015: 

• Lumenpulse Product revenues reached $88.5 million, an increase of 82.5% over the same period last year, including
$19.7 million related to in-year acquisitions;

• International revenues increased to $31.9 million from $5.7 million for the same period last year;

• Adjusted Gross Profit margin improved to 43.4% from 42.0% for the same period last year, benefiting from the higher
proportion of Lumenpulse Products and their Adjusted Gross Profit margin improvement to 44.8% from 44.0%;

• Adjusted EBITDA increased to $3.7 million from $0.4 million for the same period last year. As a percentage of total
revenues Adjusted EBITDA increased to 3.7% from 0.7%; and

• Adjusted Net Income increased by $6.3 million from the same period last year to reach $1.8 million, including a $0.7
million foreign exchange gain, primarily because of a stronger U.S. dollar.
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3.2. Selected Consolidated Financial Information 

The selected consolidated financial information set out below for the years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014, has been derived from 
the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes issued June 17, 2015.  

Consolidated Results and Earnings 
Quarters Ended April 30 Fiscal Years Ended April 30 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2013 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for amounts per share) 
Revenues by Category 

Lumenpulse Products 28,364 91.5 %  14,756 86.6 % 88,454 87.9 %  48,457 77.9 %  30,247 71.5 % 
Other Manufacturers Products 2,625 8.5 % 2,285 13.4 % 12,231 12.1 %  13,757 22.1 %  12,085 28.5 % 

Revenues 
30,989 100.0 % 17,041 100.0 % 100,685 100.0 % 62,214 100.0 % 42,332 100.0 % 

Gross Profit by Category 
Lumenpulse Products 12,512 44.1 % 6,748 45.7 % 39,147 44.3 %  21,009 43.4 %  10,786 35.7 % 
Other Manufacturers Products 849 32.3 % 882 38.6 % 4,062 33.2 %  4,849 35.2 %  4,553 37.7 % 

Gross Profit 13,361 43.1 % 7,630 44.8 % 43,209 42.9 %  25,858 41.6 %  15,339 36.2 % 

Operating expenses 
Selling and marketing 7,400 23.9 % 5,197 30.5 % 25,439 25.2 %  17,739 28.5 %  15,159 35.8 % 
Research and development 1,211 3.9 % 981 5.8 % 4,789 4.8 %  3,132 5.0 %  2,399 5.7 % 
General and administrative 4,496 14.5 % 3,312 19.4 % 14,607 14.5 % 8,947 14.5 % 6,833 16.1 % 

Operating Expenses 13,107 42.3 % 9,490 55.7 % 44,835 44.5 %  29,818 48.0 %  24,391 57.6 % 

Operating Income (Loss) 254 0.8 % (1,860) (10.9) % (1,626) (1.6) %  (3,960) (6.4) %  (9,052) (21.4) % 
Interest and other financing (income) costs 

Net change in the carrying value of the 
redeemable shares at the option of the 
holders and related financial derivative 
liability and early repayment fee on long-
term debt — — 

 
33,075 194.1 % — — % 42,367 68.1 % 5,037 11.9 % 

Other financing (income) costs 707 2.3 % 608 3.6 % (1,185) (1.1) % 2,114 3.4 % 1,554 3.7 % 

707 2.3 % 33,683 197.7 % (1,185) (1.1) % 44,481 71.5 % 6,591 15.6 % 

Interest and Other 
Financing (Income) Costs 
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes 

(453) (1.5) %  (35,543) (208.6) % (441) (0.5) %  (48,441) (77.9) %  (15,643) (37.0) % 
Income taxes (credits) (435) (1.4) % 152 0.9 % (76) (0.1) % 737 1.1 % 2,452 5.8 % 

Net Income (Loss) (18) (0.1) %  (35,695) (209.5) % (365) (0.4) %  (49,178) (79.0) %  (18,095) (42.8) % 

13,518 43.6 % 7,715 45.3 % 43,689 43.4 % 26,155 42.0 % 15,375 36.3 % Adjusted Gross Profit (1) 
Adjusted Operating Expenses (1) 11,494 37.1 % 7,662 45.0 % 39,959 39.7 % 25,713 41.3 % 21,385 50.5 % 

1,234 4.0 % (1,226) (7.2) % 1,554 1.5 % (1,868) (3.0) % (7,567) (17.9) % EBITDA (1)  
Adjusted EBITDA (1) 2,024 6.5 % 53 0.3 % 3,730 3.7 % 442 0.7 % (6,010) (14.2) % 

Adjusted Net Income (Loss) (1) 772 2.5 % (1,341) (7.9) % 1,811 1.8 % (4,501) (7.2) % (9,390) (22.2) % 

0.00 (2.67) (0.02) (4.17) (1.57) Earnings (loss) per share ― basic (2)  
Earnings (loss) per share ― diluted (2) (3) 0.00 (2.67) (0.02) (4.17) (1.57) 

Adjusted Earnings (Loss) per share ― 
0.03 (0.10) 0.08 (0.38) (0.81) basic (1) (2)  

Adjusted Earnings (Loss) per share ― 
diluted (1) (2) (3) 0.03 (0.10) 0.07 (0.38) (0.81) 

(1) For Non-IFRS measures, see section 3.2.1 “Reconciliation of Non-IFRS measures”.

(2) Per share amounts reflects retrospectively the 8.4 to 1 consolidation of the Common shares that occurred in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2014. Preceding the
IPO, redeemable shares at the option of the holders were not included in the loss per share calculation.

(3) The calculations for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015 include 1,549,825 and 1,775,167 stock options, respectively, which are deemed to be dilutive. In
the periods where the Company incurred net losses, all potentially dilutive stock options have been excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share. All
outstanding share options could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

(1) Includes full-time equivalents manufacturing temporary employees 

As at April 30 

2015 2014 2013 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
Cash 43,480 87,057 1,207 
Current assets (excluding cash) 44,394 21,393 17,133 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  21,946 9,150 9,031 
Goodwill, unallocated goodwill and acquired intangible assets 19,713 — — 
Other assets 933 240 131 

Total Assets 130,466 117,840 27,502 
Current liabilities (excluding current portion of finance lease obligations and other loans) 21,761 12,114 12,116 
Redeemable shares at the option of the holders and related financial derivative liability — — 31,831 
Finance lease obligations and other loans (including current portion) 266 163 8,913 
Other non-current liabilities 616 311 454 

Total Liabilities 22,643 12,588 53,314 
Shareholders’ Equity 107,823 105,252 (25,812) 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 130,466 117,840 27,502 
Working Capital 65,981 96,281 6,070 

Number of employees (1) 446 278 219 
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3.2.1. Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures 

The following tables present the reconciliation of net income (loss) to EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income (Loss), the 
reconciliation of gross profit to Adjusted Gross Profit, the reconciliation of operating expenses to Adjusted Operating Expenses, the 
reconciliation of selling and marketing expenses to Adjusted Selling and Marketing Expenses, the reconciliation of research and 
development expenses to Adjusted Research and Development Expenses and the reconciliation of general and administrative 
expenses to Adjusted General and Administrative Expenses:  

Quarters Ended 
April 30 

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Net Income (Loss) (18) (35,695) (365) (49,178) 
% of revenues (0.1)% (209.5)% (0.4)% (79.0)% 
Interest and other financing (income) costs 707 33,683 (1,185) 44,481 
Income taxes (435) 152 (76) 737 
Depreciation and amortization 980 634 3,180 2,092 

EBITDA 1,234 (1,226) 1,554 (1,868) 
% of revenues 4.0% (7.2)% 1.5% (3.0)% 
Unusual and non-recurring items 718 425 1,685 603 
Non-cash share-based compensation 72 854 491 1,707 

Adjusted EBITDA 2,024 53 3,730 442 
% of revenues 6.5% 0.3% 3.7% 0.7% 
Depreciation and amortization (980) (634) (3,180) (2,092) 
Interest and other financing (income) costs (707) (33,683) 1,185 (44,481) 
Net change in the carrying value of the redeemable shares at the 
option of the holders and related financial derivative liability and 
early repayment fee on long-term debt — 33,075 — 42,367 

Income taxes 435 (152) 76 (737) 
Adjusted Net Income (Loss) 772 (1,341) 1,811 (4,501) 

% of revenues 2.5% (7.9)% 1.8% (7.2)% 

Lumenpulse Products Gross Profit 12,512 6,748 39,147 21,009 
Gross margin % 44.1% 45.7% 44.3% 43.4% 
Non-cash share-based compensation 13 26 64 87 
Depreciation and amortization 144 59 416 210 

Adjusted Lumenpulse Products Gross Profit 12,669 6,833 39,627 21,306 
Adjusted Gross margin % 44.7% 46.3% 44.8% 44.0% 

Other Manufacturers Products Gross Profit 849 882 4,062 4,849 
Gross margin % 32.3% 38.6% 33.2% 35.2% 

Adjusted Gross Profit 13,518 7,715 43,689 26,155 
Adjusted Gross margin % 43.6% 45.3% 43.4% 42.0% 

Operating Expenses 13,107 9,490 44,835 29,818 
% of revenues 42.3% 55.7% 44.5% 48.0% 
Non-cash share-based compensation (59) (828) (427) (1,620) 
Depreciation and amortization (836) (575) (2,764) (1,882) 
Unusual and non-recurring items (718) (425) (1,685) (603) 

Adjusted Operating Expenses 11,494 7,662 39,959 25,713 
% of revenues 37.1% 45.0% 39.7% 41.3% 

Quarters Ended 
April 30 

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Selling and Marketing Expenses 7,400 5,197 25,439 17,739 
% of revenues 23.9% 30.5% 25.2% 28.5% 
Non-cash share-based compensation (24) 55 (248) (217) 
Depreciation and amortization (130) (361) (470) (1,117) 

Adjusted Selling and Marketing Expenses 7,246 4,891 24,721 16,405 
% of revenues 23.4% 28.7% 24.5% 26.4% 

Research and Development Expenses 1,211 981 4,789 3,132 
% of revenues 3.9% 5.8% 4.8% 5.0% 
Non-cash share-based compensation (3) (73) (13) (136) 
Depreciation and amortization (110) (45) (277) (198) 

Adjusted Research and Development Expenses 1,098 863 4,499 2,798 
% of revenues 3.5% 5.1% 4.5% 4.5% 

General and Administrative Expenses 4,496 3,312 14,607 8,947 
% of revenues 14.5% 19.4% 14.5% 14.5% 
Non-cash share-based compensation (32) (810) (166) (1,267) 
Depreciation and amortization (596) (169) (2,017) (567) 
Unusual and non-recurring items (718) (425) (1,685) (603) 

Adjusted General and Administrative Expenses 3,150 1,908 10,739 6,510 
% of revenues 10.2% 11.2% 10.7% 10.4% 
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Quarters Ended   
Apr 30, 
2015 

Jan 31, 
2015 

Oct 31, 
2014 

July 31, 
2014 

Apr 30, 
2014 

Jan 31, 
2014 

Oct 31, 
2013 

July 31, 
2013 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Net Income (Loss) 
(18) 1,593 397 (2,337) (35,695) (6,599) (1,289) (5,595) 

% of revenues (0.1)% 6.2% 1.5% (12.6)% (209.5)% (38.5)% (8.4)% (43.8)% 
Interest and other financing 

(income) costs 707 (1,363) (272) (257) 33,683 6,021 725 4,052 
Income taxes (435) 45 178   136 152 196 98 291 
Depreciation and amortization 980 815   822    563 634 512 509 437 

EBITDA 1,234 1,090  1,125 (1,895) (1,226) 130   43  (815) 
% of revenues 4.0% 4.3% 4.4% (10.2)% (7.2)% 0.8% 0.3%  (6.4)% 
Unusual and non-recurring items 718 67 142 758   425 178 — — 
Non-cash share-based 

compensation 72 160 108 151 854   543   169 141 
Adjusted EBITDA 2,024 1,317 1,375  (986)    53 851   212    (674) 

% of revenues 6.5% 5.2% 5.4%  (5.3)% 0.3%    5.0% 1.4% (5.3)% 
Depreciation and amortization (980) (815) (822)  (563) (634) (512)  (509)  (437) 
Interest and other financing 

(income) costs (707) 1,363 272 257  (33,683)  (6,021) (725)  (4,052) 
Net change in the carrying value of 

the redeemable shares at the 
option of the holders and related 
financial derivative liability and 
early repayment fee on long-term 
debt — —     —   — 33,075 5,490 268 3,534 

Income taxes 435 (45) (178)   (136)   (152)  (196)  (98)   (291) 
Adjusted Net Income (Loss) 772 1,820   647 (1,428)    (1,341) (388) (852)    (1,920) 

% of revenues 2.5% 7.1%    2.5% (7.7)% (7.9)%  (2.3)% (5.6)%    (15.0)% 

Lumenpulse Products Gross Profit 12,512 10,111 9,907     6,617  6,748 5,371 5,050 3,840 
Gross margin % 44.1% 44.6% 45.1%   42.7% 45.7% 42.9% 43.5% 40.1% 
Non-cash share-based 

compensation 13 15    17 19   26 37 13   11 
Depreciation and amortization 144 110   93    69   59 53 51 47 

Adjusted Lumenpulse Products Gross 
Profit 

12,669 10,236 10,017     6,705 6,833 5,461     5,114 3,898 

Adjusted Gross margin % 44.7% 45.2% 45.6%  43.3%  46.3% 43.7%   44.0% 40.7% 
Other Manufacturers Products Gross 

Profit 849 890 1,246 1,077 882 1,565 1,229 1,173 
Gross margin % 32.3% 31.1% 34.0% 35.0% 38.6%   33.7%  33.7%     36.9% 

Adjusted Gross Profit 13,518 11,126   11,263 7,782     7,715    7,026     6,343 5,071 
Adjusted Gross margin % 43.6% 43.6% 44.0%  41.9% 45.3%  41.0%  41.6%   39.7% 

Operating Expenses 13,107 10,726   10,850  10,152     9,490 7,318 6,745     6,265 
% of revenues 42.3% 42.0%   42.4% 54.7%    55.7%  42.6%     44.2%   49.1% 
Non-cash share-based 

compensation (59) (145) (91) (132) (828)   (506)   (156)   (130) 
Depreciation and amortization (836) (705) (729)   (494) (575)   (459)  (458)  (390) 
Unusual and non-recurring items (718) (67)  (142)   (758)   (425) (178)    —  — 

Adjusted Operating Expenses 11,494 9,809 9,888 8,768 7,662 6,175     6,131    5,745 
% of revenues 37.1% 38.4% 38.6% 47.2% 45.0% 36.0% 40.2% 45.0% 

Quarters Ended   
Apr 30, 
2015   

Jan 31, 
2015   

Oct 31, 
2014   

July 31, 
2014   

Apr 30, 
2014   

Jan 31, 
2014   

Oct 31, 
2013   

July 31, 
2013   

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Selling and Marketing Expenses 7,400 6,249 6,220  5,570 5,197 4,433  4,258 3,851 
% of revenues 23.9% 24.5% 24.3% 30.0% 30.5% 25.8% 27.9% 30.2% 
Non-cash share-based 

compensation (24) (105)  (43) (76) 55 (182) (37) (53) 
Depreciation and amortization (130) (119)  (111)  (110)  (361) (248)  (284) (224) 

Adjusted Selling and Marketing 
Expenses 

7,246 6,025 6,066 5,384 4,891 4,003 3,937 3,574 

% of revenues 23.4% 23.6% 23.7% 29.0% 28.7% 23.3% 25.8% 28.0% 

Research and Development Expenses 1,211 1,255 1,197 1,126 981 739 655 757 
% of revenues 3.9% 4.9% 4.7% 6.1% 5.8% 4.3% 4.3% 5.9% 
Non-cash share-based 

compensation (3) (2)  (4) (4) (73)  (46)   (13) (4) 
Depreciation and amortization (110) (60)  (57) (50)  (45) (59) (45) (49) 

Adjusted Research and Development 
Expenses 

1,098 1,193 1,136 1,072 863 634 597 704 

% of revenues 3.5% 4.7% 4.4% 5.8% 5.1% 3.7% 3.9% 5.5% 

General and Administrative 
Expenses 4,496 3,222 3,433 3,456 3,312 2,146 1,832  1,657 
% of revenues 14.5% 12.6% 13.4% 18.6% 19.4% 12.5% 12.0% 13.0% 
Non-cash share-based 

compensation (32) (38) (44)   (52)  (810)  (278) (106)   (73) 
Depreciation and amortization (596) (526)  (561) (334) (169) (152) (129) (117) 
Unusual and non-recurring items (718) (67) (142) (758) (425) (178) — — 

Adjusted General and 
Administrative Expenses 

3,150 2,591 2,686 2,312 1,908 1,538  1,597 1,467 

% of revenues 10.2% 10.1% 10.5% 12.4% 11.2% 9.0% 10.5% 11.5% 
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3.3. Consolidated Results of Operations  

3.3.1. Analysis of Results of the Quarters and Fiscal Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

Revenues  

Quarters  Ended 
April 30   Variance  

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30   Variance   

2015 
   

2014 $ % 2015 2014 $ % 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Lumenpulse Products 
United States  15,493 9,467 6,026 63.7% 45,460 32,910 12,550 38.1% 
International (1) 8,833 3,049 5,784 189.7% 31,111 5,688 25,423 447.0% 
Canada  4,038 2,240 1,798 80.3% 11,883 9,859 2,024 20.5% 

Total Lumenpulse Products 28,364 14,756 13,608 92.2% 88,454 48,457 39,997 82.5% 

Other Manufacturers Products 
Canada  2,522 2,285 237 10.4% 11,434 13,757 (2,323) (16.9)% 
International (1) 103 — 103 N/A 797 — 797 N/A 

Total Other Manufacturers Products 2,625 2,285 340 14.9% 12,231 13,757 (1,526) (11.1)% 
Total Revenues 30,989 17,041 13,948 81.8% 100,685 62,214 38,471 61.8% 

(1)  “International” means all jurisdictions except Canada and the United States. 

For the fourth quarter, consolidated revenues increased by 81.8% to $31.0 million from $17.0 million for the same period last year. 
The increase is primarily due to the increase of Lumenpulse products revenues and, to a lesser extent, of OMP revenues.  

In Fiscal 2015, consolidated revenues increased by 61.8% to $100.7 million from $62.2 million for the same period last year. The 
increase in revenues was driven by higher Lumenpulse Product revenues, partly offset by a decrease in OMP revenues in Canada 
when compared to the same periods last year. The year-over-year increase included a contribution of $20.5 million from in-year 
acquisitions mostly driven by AlphaLED. Our more recent acquisition, SDL, is expected to significantly contribute to revenue when the 
network roll-out is completed.  

Lumenpulse Product revenues represented 87.9% of the consolidated revenues for Fiscal 2015 up from 77.9% when compared to 
the same period last year, confirming the success of our strategy to remain focused on growing revenues of Lumenpulse Products.  

Lumenpulse Products 

For the fourth quarter, Lumenpulse Product revenues increased by 92.2% to $28.4 million from $14.8 million for the same period last 
year. In Fiscal 2015, revenues increased by 82.5% to $88.5 million from $48.5 million for the same period last year.  

For both periods, the increase in Lumenpulse Product revenues was generated by the organic growth of $6.9 million and $20.3 
million or 46.6% and 41.8% for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015 respectively, driven by the leveraging of our existing line of 
products, the introduction of new complementary products to our existing portfolio, further penetration of our existing network of 
agents and VARs in North America and in the international markets and the net favorable foreign exchange impact of $1.9 million 
for the fourth quarter and $4.9 million for Fiscal 2015. The increase is also due to the $6.7 million contribution of in-year 
acquisitions related products for the fourth quarter and $19.7 million in Fiscal 2015.  

Other Manufacturers Products 

For the fourth quarter, OMP revenues increased by 14.9% to $2.6 million compare to the same period last year, due to timing of 
projects. For Fiscal 2015, OMP revenues decreased by 11.1% to $12.2 million compared to the same period last year. This 
decrease is consistent with our strategy to remain focused on growing sales of Lumenpulse Product; however, the conversion from 
OMP to Lumenpulse product has been accelerated by the complementary LED solutions added from acquisitions completed during 
the year and the introduction of new products. The expansion of our product portfolio has led to the termination of contracts with 
manufacturers selling similar lines of products which impacted and will continue to impact our OMP revenues in the short term as we 
realign toward Lumenpulse Products.  

Geographic Segmentation 

For the fourth quarter, revenues in the United States increased by 63.7% to $15.5 million from $9.5 million for the same period last 
year. In Fiscal 2015, revenues increased by 38.1% to $45.5 million from $32.9 million for the same period last year. The increase 
is primarily due to the leveraging of our existing lines of products, the introduction of new products complementing the existing 
product portfolio and increased market penetration through our agent network attributable to increased resources dedicated to 
training and marketing. Revenues for the fourth quarter also included $1.7 million in foreign exchange gains versus the same period 
last year, primarily because of a stronger U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar.  

For the fourth quarter, International revenues increased to $8.9 million from $3.0 million for the same period last year. Revenue 
generated by in-year acquisitions totaled $6.6 million. Our presence in the International market remains at an early stage of 
development; we are still dependent on large projects and therefore impacted by their timing on a short term basis. However, the 
addition of AlphaLED is contributing to reduce our volatility by increasing and diversifying our revenue base. Additionally, our sales 
presence in France and Latin America has begun to translate into revenues and efforts being made should contribute to further growth 
in the quarters ahead. In the future, as the Company grows we expect volatility to gradually decrease.  

For Fiscal 2015, International revenues increased to $31.9 million from $5.7 million for the same period last year, an increase of 
$26.2 million of which $20.3 million is due to the revenue contribution of in-year acquisitions. When excluding the latter, the $5.9 
million revenue growth represented an increase of 104.5% compared to the same period last year. 

For the fourth quarter, Lumenpulse Product revenues in Canada increased by 80.3% to $4.0 million from $2.2 million for the same 
period last year. For Fiscal 2015, revenues increased by 20.5% to $11.9 million from $9.9 million for the same period last year. 
When including OMP revenues, for the fourth quarter, revenues in Canada increased by 45.0% to $6.6 million from $4.5 million 
for the same period last year. In Fiscal 2015, revenues decreased by 1.3% to $23.3 million from $23.6 million for the same period 
last year. The decrease is due to lower OMP revenues of $11.4 million from $13.8 million for the comparable period last year. 
Considering that our Lumenpulse Products portfolio was enhanced by the recent launch of Lumenalpha line of products in North 
America and the recent acquisition of SDL, we expect that the OMP will represent an even smaller portion of our total revenues going 
forward, in line with our intention to remain primarily focused on growing our sales of Lumenpulse Products. 
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Gross Profit and Gross Margin Percentage 

Quarters  Ended 
April 30    Variance  

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30   Variance   

2015   2014   $   %   2015   2014   $   %   
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Lumenpulse Products Gross Profit 12,512 6,748 5,764 85.4% 39,147 21,009 18,138 86.3% 
Gross margin % 44.1% 45.7% 44.3% 43.4% 

Other Manufacturers Products Gross 
Profit 849 882 (33) (3.7)% 4,062 4,849 (787) (16.2)% 

Gross margin % 32.3% 38.6% 33.2% 35.2% 
Gross Profit 13,361 7,630 5,731 75.1% 43,209 25,858 17,351 67.1% 

Gross margin % 43.1% 44.8% 42.9% 41.6% 

For the fourth quarter, consolidated gross profit increased by 75.1% to $13.4 million from $7.6 million for the same period last 
year. In Fiscal 2015, consolidated gross profit increased by 67.1% to $43.2 million from $25.9 million for the same period last 
year. Increases in gross profit are primarily due to increased Lumenpulse Products revenues.  

For the fourth quarter, consolidated gross profit margin decreased to 43.1% from 44.8% for the same period last year. The decrease 
is due to the integration of in-year acquisitions following a different profitability model and, to a smaller extent, a decrease in OMP 
gross profit margin. In Fiscal 2015, consolidated gross profit margin increased to 42.9% from 41.6% in Fiscal 2014. The 
improvement of the consolidated gross profit margin is primarily due to the greater proportion of Lumenpulse Products which generate 
a higher and improved gross profit margin. 

Lumenpulse Products 

For the fourth quarter, Lumenpulse Products gross margin decreased to 44.1% from 45.7%, when compared to the same period last 
year. This decrease is mainly due to the expected lower margin contribution of in-year acquisitions, partially offset by improved 
manufacturing efficiency, higher production capacity utilization and a favorable foreign exchange impact mainly related to the 
strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar.  

In Fiscal 2015, Lumenpulse Products gross margin increased to 44.3% from 43.4% when compared to the same period last year. 
The gross margin improvement is primarily due to improved manufacturing efficiency, higher production capacity utilization and a 
favorable foreign exchange impact mainly related to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar. This 
improvement is partially offset by the lower margin contribution of in-year acquisitions which follow a different profitability model.  

For the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015, when excluding in-year acquisitions, the Lumenpulse Products Adjusted Gross Profit margin 
increased to 46.7% from 46.3% and to 46.7% from 44.0%, respectively, when compared to the same periods last year.  

Other Manufacturers Products 

For the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015, OMP gross margin decreased to 32.3% from 38.6% and decreased to 33.2% from 35.2%, 
respectively, when compared to the same periods last year. These decreases are due to an unfavorable product mix combined with 
a negative impact from foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 

Selling and Marketing 

Quarters  Ended 
April 30   Variance  

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30   Variance   

2015 2014 $ % 2015 2014 $ % 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Selling and marketing 7,400 5,197 2,203 42.4% 25,439 17,739 7,700 43.4% 
% of revenues 23.9% 30.5% 25.2% 28.5% 

Selling and marketing expenses increased by 42.4% to $7.4 million and 43.4% to $25.4 million, respectively, for the fourth quarter 
and Fiscal  2015, from the comparable periods last year. The increase is primarily attributable to the expansion of the selling and 
marketing team to support growth, higher commissions paid to the agents associated to revenue growth, an unfavorable foreign 
exchange impact, primarily because of a stronger U.S. dollar, and higher travel expenses.  

As a percentage of total revenues, selling and marketing expenses decreased in comparison to the same periods last year to 23.9% 
and 25.2%, respectively, for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015. This percentage is expected to decrease further in the future 
considering the operating leverage provided by revenue growth.  

Research and Development 

Quarters  Ended 
April 30   Variance  

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30   Variance   

2015   2014   $   %   2015   2014   $   %   
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

R&D expenses-gross 1,328 1,094 234 21.4% 5,002 3,496 1,506 43.1% 
% of revenues 4.3% 6.4% 5.0% 5.6% 

Less: R&D tax credits (117) (113) (4) 3.5% (213) (364) 151 (41.5)% 
Net R&D 1,211 981 230 23.4% 4,789 3,132 1,657 52.9% 

% of revenues 3.9% 5.8% 4.8% 5.0% 

Net R&D expenses increased by 23.4% to $1.2 million and 52.9% to $4.8 million, respectively, for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 
2015, from the comparable periods last year. The increase is primarily due to increased headcount, higher consulting fees, higher 
long term incentives related to the addition of key employees as part of the acquisition of AlphaLED and Ariane Controls, lower R&D 
tax credits and unfavorable foreign exchange impact, primarily because of a stronger U.S. dollar. In absolute dollars, net R&D 
expenses are expected to grow in future years as new lines of LED products are developed and the technology portfolio continues to 
expand. 

As a result of being a public company, we are no longer eligible to a significant portion of the refundable R&D tax credits, 
explaining the decrease of the R&D tax credits in Fiscal 2015 when compared to the same periods last year. 

Despite the increase in R&D expenditures, net R&D expenses, as a percentage of revenues, decreased in comparison to the same 
periods last year to reach 3.9% and 4.8%, respectively, for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015. In the future, net R&D expenses, as a 
percentage of revenues, are expected to remain relatively stable at an approximate level of 4.0% to 5.0%. 
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General and Administrative 

Quarters  Ended 
April 30   Variance  

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30   Variance   

2015 2014 $ % 2015 2014 $ % 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

General and administrative 4,496 3,312 1,184 35.7% 14,607 8,947 5,660 63.3% 
% of revenues 14.5% 19.4%   14.5% 14.5% 

General and administrative expenses increased by 35.7% to $4.5 million and 63.3% to $14.6 million, respectively, for the fourth 
quarter and Fiscal 2015, from comparable periods last year. This increase is due to in-year acquisitions related costs, additional 
consulting fees and headcount in order to support growth, higher depreciation and amortization related to in-year acquisitions and 
additional investments.  

As a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses decreased to14.5% for the fourth quarter and remained 
stable at 14.5% for Fiscal 2015, when compared to the same periods last year. Over time, general and administrative expenses as 
a percentage of revenues are expected to decline. 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Quarters  Ended 
April 30   Variance  

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30   Variance   

2015   2014   $   %   2015   2014   $   %   
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Adjusted EBITDA 2,024 53  1,971 3,718.9% 3,730 442 3,288 743.9% 
% of revenues 6.5% 0.3% 3.7%   0.7% 

Adjusted EBITDA increased to $2.0 million for the fourth quarter, from $0.1 million and increased to $3.7 million in Fiscal 2015, 
from $0.4 million, respectively when compared to the same periods last year, as Adjusted Gross Profit increased more significantly 
than the increase in operating spending required to support our growth.  

As a percentage of total revenues, Adjusted EBITDA increased to 6.5% for the fourth quarter and increased to 3.7% for Fiscal 2015 
from 0.3% and 0.7%, respectively, when compared to the same periods last year.  

Interest and Other Financing (Income) Costs 

Quarters  Ended 
April 30   Variance  

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30   Variance   

2015   2014   $   %   2015   2014   $   %   
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Net change in the carrying value of the 
redeemable shares at the option of the 
holders and related financial derivative 
liability and early repayment fee on long-
term debt — 33,075 (33,075)  (100.0)% — 42,367 (42,367)  (100.0)% 

Other financing (income) costs 707 608   99 16.3% (1,185)  2,114 (3,299)  (156.1)% 
Interest and Other Financing (Income) 

Costs 707 33,683 (32,976) (97.9)% (1,185)  44,481 (45,666) (102.7)% 
 % of revenues 2.3% 197.7% (1.1)%  71.5% 

Interest and other financing costs decreased to $0.7 million for the fourth quarter ended April 30 2015 from $33.7 million for the 
comparable period last year. The interest and other financing costs for the fourth quarter included a foreign exchange loss of $0.8 
million. The net change in the carrying value of the redeemable shares at the option of the holder and related financial derivative 
liability was nil through Fiscal 2015 since these instruments are no longer outstanding after the conversion of the related Class “A” 
Preferred shares as part of the closing of the IPO.  

Interest and other financing income of $1.2 million for Fiscal 2015 increased by $45.7 million, compared to a cost of $44.5 
million for the comparable period last year. During the course of Fiscal 2015, interest and other financing income was generated by 
a net foreign exchange gain of $0.7 million and by the interest on the average cash balance of approximately $54 million for Fiscal 
2015. 

Income Taxes 

Income tax credits for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015 are related to the net losses. The Company does not expect to pay cash 
taxes relating to Lumenpulse Lighting Inc., its Canadian subsidiary, where the Company intends to utilize its tax attributes to offset 
taxable income or income taxes payable once profitability has been achieved. Deferred taxes for these attributes are not recognized 
on our statement of financial position. As at April 30 2015, the Company had accumulated approximately $38 million in operating 
tax losses and other deductions that are not recognized on our statement of financial position. 

Net Income (Loss) and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) 

Net income approached breakeven for the fourth quarter ended April 30, 2015 from a $35.7 million loss for the comparable 
period last year. This favorable variance of $35.7 million is due to the lower non-cash deemed interest on Class “A” Preferred 
Shares, included in interest and other financing (income) costs, as well as an increase in operating income from an operating loss for 
the same period last year.  

Net loss decreased by $48.8 million to $0.4 million in the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 from $49.2 million for the 
comparable period last year. This favorable variance is mostly attributable to the lower non-cash deemed interest on Class “A” 
Preferred Shares and a foreign exchange gain, both included in interest and other financing (income) costs, as well as a decrease in 
operating loss for the same period last year.  

Adjusted Net Income increased to $0.8 million and to $1.8 million for the fourth quarter and Fiscal 2015 from losses of $1.3 
million and $4.5 million, respectively, for the comparable period last year. This increase is mostly due to the improvement on 
Adjusted EBITDA and the favorable variance in interest and other financing income, slightly offset by higher depreciation and 
amortization on in-year acquisitions and additional investments.  
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3.4. Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following table sets out a selected summary of quarterly results for the eight most recently completed quarters to April 30, 2015. 

In the opinion of management, this information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial 
statements, and all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, have been included in the amounts stated 
below to present fairly the unaudited quarterly results when read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements 
and the notes to these statements. The operating results for any quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of results for any 
future period.  

Quarters Ended   
Apr 30, 
2015 

Jan 31, 
2015 

Oct 31, 
2014 

July 31, 
2014 

April 30, 
2014 

Jan 31, 
2014 

Oct 31, 
2013 

July 31, 
2013 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for amounts per share) 

Revenues by Category 
Lumenpulse Products 28,364 22,653   21,945  15,492   14,756 12,508  11,612 9,581 
Other Manufacturers Products 2,625 2,864  3,665    3,077    2,285 4,647   3,645 3,180 

Revenues 30,989 25,517  25,610   18,569  17,041  17,155 15,257 12,761 
Gross Profit by Category 

Lumenpulse Products 12,512 10,111 9,907 6,617   6,748   5,371    5,050    3,840 
Gross margin % 44.1% 44.6% 45.1% 42.7% 45.7% 42.9% 43.5% 40.1% 

Other Manufacturers Products 849 890 1,246   1,077     882  1,565    1,229   1,173 
Gross margin % 32.3% 31.1% 34.0% 35.0% 38.6% 33.7% 33.7% 36.9% 

Gross Profit 13,361 11,001 11,153 7,694 7,630 6,936   6,279 5,013 
Gross margin % 43.1% 43.1% 43.5% 41.4% 44.8% 40.4% 41.2% 39.3% 

Operating Expenses 13,107 10,726 10,850 10,152 9,490 7,318    6,745 6,265 
Operating Income (Loss) 254 275  303  (2,458) (1,860)    (382)     (466) (1,252) 
Net Income (Loss) (18) 1,593 397 (2,337) (35,695) (6,599) (1,289) (5,595) 
EBITDA (1) 1,234 1,090   1,125  (1,895) (1,226)   130  43    (815) 
Adjusted EBITDA (1) 2,024 1,317   1,375    (986)      53   851      212    (674) 
Adjusted Net Income (Loss) (1) 772 1,820  647 (1,428) (1,341)   (388) (852) (1,920) 
Earnings (loss) per share – basic (2)  0.00 0.07 0.02    (0.10)    (2.67)   (0.58) (0.11)    (0.50) 
Earnings (loss) per share – diluted (2) (3) 0.00 0.06 0.02    (0.10)     (2.67)   (0.58) (0.11)    (0.50) 
Adjusted Earnings (Loss) per share – basic (1) (2)  0.03 0.08 0.03    (0.06)  (0.10)   (0.03) (0.08)    (0.17) 
Adjusted Earnings (Loss) per share – diluted (1) (2) (3) 0.03 0.07 0.03    (0.06)  (0.10)   (0.03) (0.08)    (0.17) 

(1) For Non-IFRS measures, see section 3.2.1 “Reconciliation of Non-IFRS measures”. 

(2) Per share amounts reflects retrospectively the 8.4 to 1 consolidation of the Common shares that occurred in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2014. Preceding the 
IPO, redeemable shares at the option of the holders were not included in the loss per share calculation.  

(3) In the periods where the Company incurred net losses, all potentially dilutive stock options have been excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share. 
All outstanding share options could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future. 

Lumenpulse Product revenues increased over the past eight quarters from $9.6 million in the first quarter of Fiscal 2014 to $28.4 
million in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2015, including revenues related to in-year acquisitions for $6.7 million. Our growth was 
mainly driven by the greater North American penetration through our established agents and VARs network, the introduction of new 
products, the addition of revenues from in-year acquisitions and the expansion of international markets.  

Lumenpulse Products gross margin increased from 40.1% in the first quarter of Fiscal 2014 to 44.1% in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 
2015. This improvement was primarily due to economies of scale from increasing volumes and ongoing initiatives to reduce costs 
and increase manufacturing efficiencies.  

Our Adjusted EBITDA reached $2.0 million in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2015, an increase of $2.7 million over the Adjusted 
EBITDA loss of $0.7 million recorded in the first quarter of Fiscal 2014. The improvement is due to higher revenues combined with 
improved Adjusted Gross Profit margin and lower operating expenses as a percentage of revenues.  

Our Adjusted Net Income reached $0.8 million in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2015, from an Adjusted Net Loss of $1.9 million in the 
first quarter of Fiscal 2014. This favorable variance is mostly due to the increase in Adjusted EBITDA, favorable variance in interest 
and other financing income, slightly offset by higher depreciation and amortization due to the in-year acquisitions.  

3.5. Liquidity 
A summary of net cash flows by activities is presented below: 

Quarters Ended 
April 30 

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Net cash flows generated from (used in) operating activities before net change in 
non-cash operating items 629 (1,370) 1,881 (3,099) 

Net change in non-cash operating items 224 2 (8,235) (2,434) 
Net cash flows generated from (used in) operating activities 853 (1,368) (6,354) (5,533) 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (5,862) (1,001) (39,229) (2,599) 
Net cash flows generated from financing activities 443 89,398 1,562 93,939 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (273) 28 444 43 
Net increase (decrease) in cash (4,839) 87,057 (43,577) 85,850 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 48,319 — 87,057 1,207 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 43,480 87,057 43,480 87,057 

The Company’s primary sources of cash consist of its existing cash balances, operating activities and available borrowings under the 
Revolving Credit Facility. Additionally, our IPO in Fiscal 2014 was a significant source of cash.  

The Company’s primary uses of cash are to fund operations, working capital requirements and capital expenditures in connection 
with product development and manufacturing infrastructure. Our cash balances will also be used to strengthen our distribution and 
sales channels and increase our brand awareness, expand our regional market sales coverage, develop and introduce new products 
as well as general corporate purposes including potential strategic acquisitions to further expand our products and markets.  

3.5.1. Quarters ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

Net cash flows generated by operating activities were $0.9 million for the fourth quarter compared to $1.4 million used for the 
comparable period last year. The increase of $2.3 million is mostly due to a favorable variance in EBITDA of $2.4 million to a level 
of $1.2 million compared to an EBITDA loss of $1.2 million for the comparable period last year.  

Net cash flows used in investing activities were $5.9 million for the fourth quarter compared to $1.0 million for the comparable 
period last year. The $4.9 million increase is primarily due to the acquisition of SDL and Ariane for counterparts, excluding holdback 
payment, of respectively $2.8 million and $1.2 million and to an overall investment increase across the company to support our 
growth. 

Net cash flows generated from financing activities were $0.3 million for the fourth quarter compared to $89.4 million for the 
comparable period last year. Net cash flow generated from financing activities includes $0.5 million related to the proceeds from 
issuance of share capital under stock option plan. For the quarter ended April 30, 2014, net cash flow generated from financing 
activities was primarily associated with the net proceeds from the IPO of $104.6 million, offset by the net repayment of $11.0 
million of long term debt and $4.9 million of the revolving credit facility.  
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3.5.2. Fiscal Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

Net cash flows used by operating activities were $6.4 million for Fiscal 2015 compared to $5.5 million used for the comparable 
period last year, which represents a $0.9 million increase. The increase of $0.9 million is due to an unfavorable variance of $5.8 
million in non-cash operating items, caused by higher inventory balance, partially offset by a favorable variance of $3.5 million in 
EBITDA to a level of $1.6 million compared to an EBITDA loss of $1.9 million for the comparable period last year. 

Net cash flows used in investing activities were $39.2 million for Fiscal 2015 compared to $2.6 million for the comparable period 
last year. The increase is primarily due to the acquisition of the assets of Projection Lighting of $30.3 million, the increase in capital 
expenditures of $2.4 million and the acquisition of SDL and Ariane for counterparts, excluding holdback payment, of respectively 
$2.8 million and $1.2 million. 

Net cash flows generated from financing activities were $1.6 million for Fiscal 2015 compared to $93.9 million for the comparable 
period last year. Net cash flow generated from financing activities includes $1.7 million related to the proceeds from issuance of 
share capital under stock option plan. For Fiscal 2014, net cash flow generated from financing activities was primarily associated 
with the net proceeds from the IPO of $104.6 million, offset by the net repayment of $9.0 million of long term debt and $1.5 million 
of the revolving credit facility. 

3.6. Contractual Obligations 

In the normal course of business, we enter into contracts that give rise to commitments for future minimum payments. The following 
table summarized the Company’s contractual obligations as at April 30, 2015, including its commitments related to leasing 
contracts:  

Less than 1 
Year   

1 to 2 
Years   

2 to 5 
Years   

More than 5 
Years   

Total 
Amount   

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Commitments 
Operating lease agreements  1,739   1,414 2,897  1,398 7,448 

Financial Obligations 
Finance lease obligation  145   110 33 — 288 
Account payable and accrued liabilities  20,311 — — — 20,311 
Other liabilities    961 — — — 961 
Other long-term liabilities — 219 58 — 277 

Total Obligations   23,156  1,743  2,988 1,398 29,285 

The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations as at April 30, 2014, including its commitments related to 
leasing contracts: 

Less than 1 
Year 

1 to 2 
Years 

2 to 5 
Years 

More than 5 
Years 

Total 
Amount 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Commitments 
Operating lease agreements  997   860 1,883  1,070 4,810 

Financial Obligations 
Finance lease obligation  68   64 59 — 191 
Account payable and accrued liabilities  11,410 — — — 11,410 
Other liabilities    237 — — — 237 

Total Obligations   12,712  924  1,942 1,070 16,648 

The Company enters into purchasing commitments with some raw material suppliers. These agreements are generally concluded prior 
to production and may specify fixed or variable quantities of material to be purchased. Due to the uncertainty as to the amount and 
pricing of material that may be purchased, the Company is not able to reliably determine its commitments in connection with these 
supply agreements.  

Management believes that the Company’s operating activities and available borrowing capacity will provide adequate sources of 
funds to meet short-term and long-term requirements.  

3.7. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Company had no off-balance sheet arrangement, other than operating leases (which have been disclosed under section 3.6 
“Contractual Obligations”), that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on its consolidated financial 
position, financial performance, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.  

3.8. Capital Resources 

3.8.1. Revolving Credit Facility 

On April 7, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to the Credit Agreement to increase the advances available under the 
Revolving Credit Facility up to $10 million, to reduce the interest rate payable under such Revolving Credit Facility and to amend 
certain covenants applicable to such Revolving Credit Facility.   

Following the acquisition of the assets of Projection Lighting, the Company entered into a second amendment to the Credit 
Agreement on July 18, 2014, to amend guarantees and certain borrowing base definitions, applicable to the Revolving Credit 
Facility. 

On October 30, 2014, the Company signed an extension of the revolving period under the credit agreement.  The revolving period 
was extended to November 2, 2015.  

On December 10, 2014, the Company entered into a third amendment to the Credit Agreement, to further amend guarantees, 
certain borrowing base definitions and conditions and financial covenants.  The financial covenants under this amendment were 
loosened to reflect the fact that the Company is now a publicly-traded company. 

On February 2, 2015, concurrent to the Ariane acquisition, the Company entered into a fourth amendment to the Credit Agreement, 
to further amend definitions and guarantees in order to include Ariane and its assets under the Credit Agreement. 

Following the SDL acquisition, on April 1, 2015, the Company entered into a fifth amendment to the Credit Agreement, to further 
amend definitions and guarantees in order to include SDL, now Lumenarea Lighting Inc., and its assets under the Credit Agreement. 

The Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base calculation and the cost of borrowing for such liability under the Credit 
Agreement as of April 30, 2015 was based on the following:  

• U.S. dollars at U.S. Base Rate plus 1.25% per annum; and

• Canadian dollars at Prime Rate plus 1.25% per annum.

The Revolving Credit Facility is secured by first-ranking liens on the universality of the assets of the Company, excluding the assets of 
certain subsidiaries, and is subject to certain restrictions, including the obligation to maintain financial ratio at all times. As at 
April 30, 2015, the Company did not have any borrowings on the line of credit. 
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3.9. Consolidated Financial Position 

The following table shows the balances in the consolidated financial position of the Company as at April 30, 2015 and April 30, 
2014, and the related net variance:  

April 30, 
2015 

April 30, 
2014 Variance 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for ratios) 

Accounts receivable 22,368 13,491 8,877 
Days sales outstanding (“DSO”) ratio 49 49 — 

Inventories 19,844 6,999 12,845 
Inventory turnover ratio 2.7 3.3 (0.6) 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 21,946 9,150 12,796 
Goodwill and unallocated goodwill and acquired intangible assets 19,713 — 19,713 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 20,311 11,410 8,901 
Finance lease obligations and other loans (including current portion) 266 163 103 

3.9.1. Accounts Receivable 

The accounts receivable balance increased by $8.9 million to $22.4 million as at April 30, 2015 compared to April 30, 2014. 
After various collection challenges over the last three quarters, our DSO came back to 49 days as at April 30, 2015, consistent with 
the comparable period last year. All of our revenues in the United States are insured with Export Development Canada while our 
International receivables (with the exception of UK-based receivables) are generally supported by letters of credit issued by reputable 
banks. Our DSOs on accounts receivable are net of taxes, allowance for doubtful accounts and other non-trade receivables. 

3.9.2. Inventories 

Our inventory balance increased by $12.8 million to $19.8 million as at April 30, 2015 compared to April 30, 2014, due to the 
addition of in-year acquisitions and the increased level of inventory to support future growth, increase customer service satisfaction 
and support the launch of Lumenalpha and the new quick ship program. As a result, inventory turnover decreased to 2.7. 

3.9.3. Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets 

The property, plant and equipment and intangible assets balance increased by $12.8 million to $21.9 million as at April 30, 2015 
compared to April 30, 2014. The increase is related to in-year acquisitions which added further property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, as well as investments, for a total of $5.6 million in Fiscal 2015, in equipment and tools, software and patents, 
licences and intellectual property to support growth, partially offset by amortization and depreciation.  

3.9.4. Goodwill and Unallocated Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets 

Goodwill and unallocated goodwill and acquired intangible assets of $19.7 million as at April 30, 2015 are associated to the 
acquisition of the assets of Projection Lighting in the first quarter of Fiscal 2015 and the acquisition of Ariane Controls Inc. and SDL 
Lighting Inc. in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2015. 

3.9.5. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 

Accounts payable increased by $8.9 million to $20.3 million as at April 30, 2015 compared to April 30, 2014. The increase is 
primarily related to an increased level of inventory purchases as previously described, combined to in-year acquisitions activities.  

3.9.6. Finance Lease Obligations and Other Loans (including current portion) 

Finance lease obligations and other loans balance of $0.3 million as at April 30, 2015 slightly increased from $0.2 million when 
compared to April 30, 2014.  

3.10. Related Party Transactions 

3.10.1. Compensation of Key Management 

“Key Management” of the Company is defined as employees with authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Company. Key Management personnel includes: Chief Executive Officer and other Vice-Presidents and directors 
of the Company.  

The compensation of Key Management represents: 

Quarters Ended 
April 30 

Fiscal Years Ended 
April 30  

2015 2014 2015 2014 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Salaries and benefits 521 778 3,735 2,970 
Termination benefits — 45 — 93 
Share-based compensation expense 50 659 339 1329 
Other long-term benefits 41 237 200 237 

612 1,719 4,274 4,629 

3.11. Outstanding share data  
At June 17, 2015, there were 23,518,204 Common shares issued and outstanding and 2,284,155 outstanding stock options. 

4. Financial Risks

Analysis of the risks to which the Company is exposed: 

4.1. Foreign Exchange Risk 

Net income, assets and liabilities and cash flows reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements in Canadian dollars 
are exposed to the fluctuation of exchange rates, mainly the Canadian dollar/U.S. dollar rate and the Canadian dollar/U.K. pound 
sterling.  

The Company’s cash inflows and outflows are mainly comprised of Canadian dollars, U.S. dollars and U.K. pound sterling. As a 
result of its current business transactions, the Company tends to maintain a certain offset position on U.S. dollars cash inflows and 
outflows.  

The Company does not hedge its current limited exposure to the U.S. dollar or U.K. pound sterling, but could start doing so if the 
Company’s exposure to the U.S. dollar or U.K. pound sterling becomes significant.  

4.2. Liquidity Risk 

The Company manages its liquidity risk by continuously monitoring its operating cash requirements taking into account the seasonality 
of the Company’s working capital needs, revenues and expenses. The Company believes cash on hand and the availability of funds 
under its Credit Facility ensures its financial flexibility and mitigates its liquidity risk.  

4.3. Interest Rate Risk 

The Company is exposed to the variation of interest rates mainly resulting from the prime rate on its Revolving Credit Facility. Due to 
the fact the Revolving Credit Facility was unused during Fiscal 2015, the Company is not exposed to interest rate risk in the short-
term.  
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4.4. Credit Risk 

The Company could be exposed, in the normal course of business, to the potential inability of distributors, VARs and other business 
partners to meet their contractual obligations on financial assets, mainly on receivables.  

In order to mitigate these risks, the Company currently insures all of its U.S. material receivables with Export Development Canada. 
Outside of the U.S., Canada and UK, most material receivables are covered by letters of credit.  

Additional information on financial instruments and risk management is provided in note 22 of Consolidated Financial Statements for 
the year ended April 30, 2015. 

5. Critical Accounting Estimates

5.1. Significant Management Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the 
period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.  

Information about critical estimates in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements is as follow:  

5.1.1. Impairment of non-financial assets 

As part of assessing property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets for impairment, the recoverable value of a cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) is determined using a valuation method that requires the use of a number of methods, including the 
discounted future cash flow method. The consideration of how the CGU is determined requires judgment. In addition, the Company 
also uses its judgment to determine whether an impairment test must be performed due to the presence of potential impairment 
indicators. In applying its judgment, the Company relies primarily on its knowledge of its business and the economic environment. 

When a method based on discounted future cash flow is used, cash flow projections are made for the next five years, based on past 
experience and expected growth, and represent management’s best estimate of future results. Beyond this period, long-term growth is 
applied to the cash flows, consistent with the long-term growth assumptions of the Company considering various factors such as 
industry growth assumptions. The recoverable value of a CGU is also influenced by the discount rate used in the model, the growth 
rate used to make the extrapolation in the average weighted cost of capital and tax rates. 

This method relies on numerous assumptions and estimates that may have a significant impact on the recoverable value of a CGU, 
and thereby on the amount of impairment, if any. The impact of material changes in assumptions and the review of estimates is 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the changes occur or the estimates are reviewed, as required. 

5.1.2. Hybrid financial instruments and embedded derivatives 

As part of assessing whether an instrument is a hybrid financial instrument and contains an embedded derivative, significant judgment 
is required in evaluating whether the host contract is more akin to debt or equity and whether the host contract is clearly and closely 
related to the underlying of the derivative. In applying its judgment, the Company relies primarily on the economic characteristics and 
risks of the instrument as well as the substance of the contractual arrangement. In addition, the fair value evaluation of the embedded 
financial derivative liability is based on numerous assumptions and estimates that may have a significant impact on the amount 
recognized as a financial derivative liability. The impact of material changes in assumptions and the review of estimates is 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the changes occur or the estimates are reviewed, as required. 

5.1.3. Additional information about assumptions 

Additional information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that may have a significant risk of resulting in adjustments 
within the next financial year is as follows: 

Income taxes 

In the calculation of current tax, the Company is required to make significant estimates due to the fact that it is subject to tax laws of 
the many jurisdictions in which it operates. Similarly, the amount of current tax may change as a result of various facts, such as future 
events, changes in income tax laws of the outcome of reviews by tax authorities and related appeals. 

In the calculation of deferred tax, estimates must be used to determine the appropriate rates and amounts and to take into account 
the probability of their occurrence. Deferred income tax assets also reflect the benefit of unutilized tax losses than can be carried 
forward to reduce income taxes in future years. This assessment requires the Company to exercise significant judgments in 
determining whether or not it is probable that the deferred income tax assets can be recovered from future taxable income and 
therefore, that they can be recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company relies, among other things, 
on its past experience to apply its judgment. 

Once the final amounts have been determined, they may result in adjustments to current and deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities. 

Provision for inventory obsolescence 

The provision for inventory obsolescence is estimated by management based on turnover, age and obsolescence of parts and 
components and finished products. 

Warranty provision and provision for bad debts 

The warranty provision is estimated based on recorded claim history. The provision for bad debts is estimated by management 
based on late payments, client relationships and default history. 

Share-based compensation 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions entered into with its employees based on the fair value of the equity 
instruments on the grant date. Measuring the fair value of share-based payments transactions entails determining the most relevant 
pricing model depending on the terms and conditions of the rewards. This also requires determining the most appropriate inputs for 
the pricing model including the expected life of stock options, volatility and making assumptions about the inputs. 

Business Combinations 

Under the acquisition method, on the date that control is obtained, the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
acquired business are measured at their fair values. Depending on the complexity of determining the valuation for certain assets, the 
Company uses appropriate valuation techniques in arriving at the estimated fair value at the acquisition date for these assets. These 
valuations are generally based on a forecast of the total expected future net discounted cash flows and relate closely to the 
assumptions made by management regarding the future performance of the related assets and the discount rate applied as it would 
be assumed by a market participant. 

5.1.4. Changes in accounting estimates 

In the last quarter of fiscal 2014, the Company adopted prospectively a change in accounting estimate that relates to its indefinite-
life intangible asset intellectual property. The useful life of the intellectual property has been reviewed and changed from indefinite to 
finite with an estimated useful life of 20 years. The change from indefinite to finite life aligns the economic performance of the asset 
with key patents granted during fiscal 2014. 

In accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, the Company tested the asset for impairment by comparing the recoverable 
amount of the CGU with its carrying amount. The Company did not find any impairment as a result of this test. 
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5.1.4. Changes in accounting estimates (continued) 

Business Combinations 

On July 1, 2014, the Company acquired all of the operating assets and liabilities of Projection Lighting. During Fiscal 2015, the 
Company finalized the purchase price allocation. Adjustments and reclassifications are mainly related to the assessment of 
identifiable intangibles acquired. The following is a summary of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at the acquisition 
date, the adjustment and reclassifications, and the finalized purchased price allocation.  

Purchase price 
allocation, as 

originally reported (1)

Adjustments and 
reclassifications 

Final purchase price 
allocation (1) 

 
 (in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Assets Acquired 
Account receivable 3,443 31 3,474 
Inventory 3,229 9 3,238 
Prepaid expenses and supplies 66 35 101 
Property, plant and equipment 216 — 216 

Brand name — 1,800 1,800 

Intellectual Property — 1,400 1,400 

Customer relationships — 6,300 6,300 

Goodwill — 15,645 15,645 
Unallocated goodwill and acquired intangible assets 24,939 (24,939) — 
Other receivables 134 (134) — 

Total Assets 32,027 147 32,174 

Liabilities Assumed 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,763 147 1,910 

Total Net Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed 30,264 — 30,264 

(1) Numbers included in the table above are converted at the date of the acquisition at the exchange rate of 1.83. See note 5 of the consolidated financial 
statements ended April 30, 2015. 

On February 1, 2015, the Company acquired all of the share of Ariane Controls Inc., and on March 16, 2015, the Company 
acquired all of the shares of SDL Lighting Inc. The impact of these acquisitions was not material to the Company’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Additional details concerning the acquisitions are presented in note 5 of the audited financial statements. 

5.2. Accounting Standards 

5.2.1. Adoption of New Accounting Standards 

The Company has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any consequential amendments to 
other standards, with a date of initial application of May 1, 2014: 

IFRIC Interpretation 21 - Levies “IFRIC 21” 

IFRIC 21 was issued by the IASB in May 2013. IFRIC 21 provides guidance on when to recognize a liability for a levy imposed by  
a  government  both  for  levies  that  are accounted for in accordance with IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets and those where the timing and amount of the levy is certain. A levy is an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
that is imposed by governments on entities in accordance with legislation, other than income taxes within the scope of IAS 12, 
Income Taxes, and fines or other penalties imposed for breaches of the legislation. The Interpretation identifies the obligating event 
for the recognition of a liability as the activity that triggers the payment of the levy in accordance with the relevant legislation. It 
provides the following guidance on recognition of a liability to pay levies: (i) the liability is recognized progressively if the obligating 
event occurs over a period of time, and (ii) if an obligation is triggered on reaching a minimum threshold, the liability is recognized 
when that minimum threshold is reached. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

5.2.1. Adoption of New Accounting Standards (continued) 

Business Combinations 

In addition, as a result of the business acquisition referred to in note 5 in the consolidated financial statements ended April 30, 
2015, the Company applied the following accounting policy for the first time: 

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method. Accordingly, the consideration transferred for the acquisition of 
the business is the fair value of the assets transferred, and any debt and equity interests issued by the Company on the date control of 
the acquired company is obtained. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are generally measured at fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of a business 
combination over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of a business combination is less than 
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the statement of earnings (loss) as a gain on 
acquisition.  

5.2.2.  Future accounting Changes 

At the date of this MD&A, certain new standards, amendments to and interpretations of existing standards have been published but 
are not yet effective, and have not been adopted by the Company.  

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Company’s accounting policies for the first 
period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that 
are expected to be relevant to the Company’s consolidated financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and 
interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

Issued in July 2014, IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). This standard simplifies 
the classification of a financial asset as either at amortized cost or at fair value as opposed to the multiple classifications which were 
permitted under IAS 39. This standard also requires the use of a single impairment method as opposed to the multiple methods in IAS 
39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The standard also adds guidance on the classification and measurement 
of financial liabilities and introduces a new hedge accounting model. This IFRS, which is to be applied retrospectively, is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing 
the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which establishes principles for reporting the 
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.  It provides a 
single model in order to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. 

IFRS 15 supersedes the following standards:  IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31, 
Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Service. 

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services.  

IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that would result in an entity providing comprehensive information 
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s contracts with customers. 

The IASB has decided to propose to defer the effective date to January 1, 2018 from the previous expected effective date of 
January 1, 2017. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
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6. Controls and Procedures

6.1. Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

The Company maintains appropriate information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information used internally and 
disclosed externally is complete, accurate, reliable and timely. The disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) are designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed under 
applicable securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the securities 
legislation and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and 
communicated to Management, including its certifying officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure. 

As at April 30, 2015, an evaluation was carried out, under the supervision of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the 
Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer, of the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s DC&P. Based on 
this evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer concluded that 
the Company’s DC&P were appropriately designed and were operating effectively as at April 30, 2015. 

6.2. Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with IFRS. 

Management has evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of its ICFR as defined in Regulation 52-109 – Certification of 
Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings. The evaluation was based on the criteria established in the “Internal Control-
Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013) (“COSO”). This 
evaluation was performed by the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer 
of the Company with the assistance of other Company Management and staff to the extent deemed necessary. Based on this 
evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the 
ICFR were appropriately designed and operating effectively, as at April 30, 2015. 

In spite of its evaluation, Management does recognize that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated, 
can only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. 

6.2.1. Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

No changes were made to the design of ICFR during the period from February 1, 2015 and April 30, 2015 that have materially 
affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s ICFR. 

6.2.2. Limitation on Scope of Design of Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting 

Management’s assessment of and conclusion on the design of the Company’s DC&P and ICFR as at April 30, 2015, did not 
include the controls or procedures of the operations of AlphaLED, which were acquired on July 1, 2014. The Company has 
accordingly availed itself of provision 3.3(1)(b) of Regulation 52-109 which permits exclusion of this acquisition in the design and 
operating effectiveness assessment of its DC&P and ICFR for a maximum period of 365 days from the date of acquisition.  

The following table summarizes the financial information, including intercompany charges, for AlphaLED following its acquisition: 

Ten-month Period Ended April 30, 2015 

 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Results 

Revenues 20,295 
Net Loss (1) (824) 

Financial Position 

11,168 
25,180 
5,688 

Current Assets 
Non-Current Assets 
Current Liabilities (2) 
Non-Current Liabilities (3) 23,568 

(1) Includes all intercompany charges
(2) Includes intercompany indebtedness
(3) All related to intercompany indebtedness

7. Risk Factors

The risks and uncertainties described below are those we currently believe to be material, but they are not the only ones we face. If 
any of the following risks, or any other risks and uncertainties that we have not yet identified or that we currently consider not to be 
material, actually occur or become material risks, our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
and consequently the price of the Common Shares could be materially and adversely affected. In all these cases, the trading price of 
the Common Shares could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. There is no assurance that risk management 
steps taken will avoid future loss due to the uncertainties described below or other unforeseen risks.  

History of Losses 

We have incurred significant losses in each of our fiscal years since our inception. We incurred net losses of $7.1 million in Fiscal 
2014 and $0.4 million in Fiscal 2015 net of $42.1 million and nil, respectively, of deemed interest and net changes in the 
carrying value of the redeemable preferred shares at the option of the holders and related financial derivative liability being primarily 
a result of the conversion of the preferred shares into Common shares. These losses were due to the substantial investments we made 
to develop our products and technologies, build our infrastructure and grow our business and acquire customers. These losses 
combined with working capital requirements resulted in significant net cash outflows from operating activities, respectively of $5.5 
million in Fiscal 2014 and $6.4 million in Fiscal 2015. 

We plan on continuing to make significant expenditures to support our growth strategy. These expenditures may include investments 
in our products and infrastructure and costs associated with the development of new innovative lighting solutions, the expansion of 
our market reach through the establishment of new international distribution channels and the selective pursuance of strategic 
acquisitions. We expect that our operating expenses will continue to increase as we spend resources on growing our business, and 
if our revenue does not correspondingly increase, our operating results and financial condition will suffer. The amount of these 
expenditures is difficult to forecast accurately and cost overruns may occur. We cannot be certain of the timing and extent of revenue 
receipts and expense disbursements. To become profitable, we will have to generate sufficient revenue while controlling our costs 
and expenses. Our recent revenue growth should not be considered as indicative of our future performance. Accordingly, we cannot 
assure you that we will achieve profitability in the future, nor that, if we do become profitable, we will sustain profitability. 
Consequently, we cannot assure that we will generate positive cash flows from operating activities in the future or, if we do generate 
positive cash flows from operating activities, that they will be sustained.  

Maintaining and Managing Growth 

Our success will depend in part on our ability to implement our growth strategy and manage our growth effectively. To manage the 
expected growth of our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to improve our operational, financial and management 
controls and our reporting systems and procedures. Failure to effectively manage growth could result in difficulty in launching new 
products or enhancing existing products, declines in quality or end-user satisfaction, increases in costs or other operational difficulties, 
and any of these difficulties could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows.  

Risks Related to Global Economic Conditions 

Our operating results may vary based on changes in our industry or the global economy. Unfavourable economic conditions, 
including the impact of recessions, slow economic growth, economic and pricing instability, decrease of employment levels, increase 
of interest rates and credit market volatility, may affect our business and financial results. The revenue growth and potential 
profitability of our business depends on demand for specification-grade LED lighting solutions and is associated largely with 
retrofitting and construction projects. The number of these projects will fluctuate based on general economic and business conditions. 
Historically, economic downturns have resulted in overall reductions in the number and size of retrofitting and construction projects. If 
economic conditions deteriorate, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.  
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Risks Related to International Expansion 

A key element of our growth strategy is to expand our international operations and develop an international network of VARs. 
Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and will subject us to regulatory, 
economic and political risks that are different from those in the United States and Canada. Because of our limited experience with 
international operations, we cannot assure you that our international expansion efforts will be successful. In addition, we will face 
risks in doing business internationally that could adversely affect our business, including:  

• our ability to comply with differing technical and certification requirements outside of the United States and Canada;

• difficulties and costs associated with managing an extended and diversified network of VARs and agents;

• difficulties in integrating foreign operations and maintaining an enterprise-wide consistent corporate culture;

• potentially greater difficulty collecting accounts receivable and enforcing contracts;

• longer payment cycles;

• unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;

• difficulties and costs associated with understanding and complying with local laws, regulations and customs in foreign
jurisdictions;

• political, economic and social instability;

• increased costs of adapting products to foreign countries;

• difficulties and costs related to eventual implementation of new infrastructures in foreign countries;

• increased costs in transportation and delays;

• tariffs, export controls and other non-tariff barriers such as quotas and local content rules;

• more limited protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

• adverse tax consequences;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

• restrictions on the transfer of funds; and

• new and different sources of competition and international pricing pressure.

Furthermore, some of our operations and sales are conducted or might be conducted in parts of the world that experience corruption 
to some degree. Violations of anti-corruption laws or regulations by our agents, VARs or other sales channels participants, or 
allegations of such violations, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.  

Our failure to successfully manage any of these risks could harm our existing and future international operations and could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

Reliance on Third-Party Agents, Distributors and VARs 

We rely significantly on indirect sales channels to market, distribute and sell our solutions and products. In the United States, we 
distribute our solutions and products through a combination of commissions paid to third-party lighting agents promoting our solutions 
and products to specifiers and end-users, and electrical wholesale distributors buying our solutions and products and reselling them to 
electrical contractors and other end-users, while in Canada (other than Québec) and internationally (other than in the U.K. and in 
France), our solutions and products are sold to VARs who promote the solutions and products to specifiers and end-users and 
distribute them to electrical contractors and other end-users and can also provide value-added services. Our agreements with agents 
and VARs are short-term agreements and sales to electrical wholesale distributors are mostly on a purchase order basis. We do not 
control the activities of our agents, distributors and VARs with respect to the marketing, distribution and sale of our solutions and 
products, and they may make decisions that may be contrary to our interests, including decisions to compete against us or to favour 
solutions and products of our existing or future competitors. Therefore, their reputation and performance, their ability and willingness 
to market, distribute and sell our solutions and products and uphold our brand reputation and their ability to expand their business 
and their sales channels will have a direct and material impact on our sales, profitability and cash flows. The loss of a number of our 
agents or VARs or a substantial decrease in the volume of business generated by a major agent or VAR or a group of agents or VARs 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

Failure to Expand Distribution and Sales Infrastructure and Marketing 

We will need to continue to expand our distribution and sales infrastructure and our marketing in order to grow our business. We 
plan to continue to expand and increase our internal sales force, both domestically and internationally, and our network of agents 
and VARs internationally as well as our marketing spend. Identifying and executing agreements with agents and VARs may require 
significant time, expense and attention. Similarly, identifying and recruiting sales people and training them in the use of our solutions 
and products require significant time, expense and attention. This expansion will require us to invest significant financial and other 
resources. If we are unable to hire, develop and retain talented sales personnel and execute agreements with agents and VARs, we 
may not be able to significantly increase our revenue and grow our business. In addition, our business will be seriously harmed if our 
efforts to expand our distribution and sales infrastructure and our marketing do not generate a corresponding significant increase in 
revenue. 

Market Acceptance of our Products 

We face competition from both competitors providing traditional lighting technologies, such as incandescent, halogen, fluorescent 
and HID lighting technologies, and from competitors providing LED products. Traditional lighting technologies have the advantage of 
a long history of market acceptance and familiarity as compared to LED lighting solutions. Potential customers for our specification-
grade LED lighting solutions may be reluctant to adopt our solutions over solutions using traditional lighting technologies because of 
their higher upfront cost. The marketability of our solutions and products could also be significantly affected by changes in economic 
and market conditions or by the adoption of new lighting technologies. Lack of widely accepted standards governing LED lighting 
products and customer unwillingness to adopt LED lighting solutions to replace traditional lighting technologies could significantly limit 
the demand for our specification-grade LED lighting solutions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

New Technology 

Development of new solutions and products incorporating advanced technology is a complex process subject to numerous 
uncertainties. Companies within the LED lighting industry are continuously developing new products with heightened performance 
and functionality, which may result in pricing pressure on existing products. Our success will depend in part on our ability to develop 
products that keep pace with the continuing changes in technology, evolving industry standards, new product introductions by 
competitors and changing client preferences and requirements. We may be unable to successfully address these developments on a 
timely basis or at all. Failure to respond quickly and cost-effectively to new developments through the development of new products 
and technologies or enhancements to existing products and technologies could render our existing products and technologies less 
competitive or obsolete and could reduce our revenue. If effective new sources of light other than LED are discovered, our existing 
products and technologies could become less competitive or obsolete.  
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Certification and Compliance 

Our products are required to meet the electrical codes of the jurisdictions in which they are installed, such as the codes established in 
the United States under UL standard, in Canada under the Canadian Electrical Code and in the European Union under the IEC/EN 
safety standard. Although we are not aware of any efforts to amend any existing legal requirements or implement new legal 
requirements in a manner with which we cannot comply, our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows could be materially and adversely affected if such an amendment or implementation were to occur.  

Moreover, although not legally required to do so, our customers require our products to be certified and marked by applicable 
certifications, including the Underwriters Laboratory safety marking (UL), the Canadian Standard Association marking (CSA) and the 
European Economic Area marking (CE). Although we believe that our knowledge and experience with electrical codes and safety 
standards have facilitated certification approvals, we cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain any such certifications for our 
new products or that, if certification standards are amended, we will be able to maintain any such certifications for our existing 
products. The failure to obtain the certifications required by our customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

Competition 

The lighting industry is highly competitive and is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product introductions, 
and a competitive pricing environment.  

In the specification-grade lighting solutions market segment in which we sell our LED lighting solutions, our solutions compete with 
lighting products utilizing traditional lighting technologies provided by many large vendors. In order to protect their traditional market 
share, these competitors could significantly lower their prices and therefore reduce the financial benefit of our LED lighting solutions. 
These large vendors also have much greater resources to devote to LED research and development, manufacturing, marketing and 
sales, as well as greater brand name recognition. These large vendors could compete more aggressively with us by acquiring 
companies with new technologies which could allow them to develop products and technologies better suited to the needs of end-
users, earlier and at a lower cost or by subsidizing losses in their LED lighting businesses with profits from their other lines of business. 

A number of small manufacturers of LED products could also develop and introduce new products at a faster pace than us, therefore 
better meeting market needs. Such small manufacturers of LED products could also be acquired by, receive investments from or enter 
into other commercial relationships with larger, well established and well-financed competitors. The relatively low barriers to entry in 
the lighting industry and the limited proprietary nature of many lighting products also permit new competitors to enter the industry 
more easily. In addition, LED manufacturers, including those that currently supply us with LEDs, may seek to compete with us by 
introducing more complete systems that might not infringe on our proprietary technology. Our competitors’ lighting products may be 
more readily accepted by industry participants than our products. 

Moreover, to the extent that competition in our markets intensifies, we may be required to reduce our prices and profit margins or to 
increase our sales and marketing expenses in order to remain competitive. Any failure to respond to increased competition in a timely 
or cost-effective manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows. 

Dependence on Third-Party Suppliers 

We depend on a number of third-party suppliers for a significant portion of the component parts incorporated into our solutions and 
products. We purchase these components from third-party suppliers that serve the LED lighting industry. Consolidation in the LED 
lighting industry could result in one or more of our current suppliers being acquired by a competitor, rendering us unable to continue 
purchasing necessary amounts of key components at competitive prices. In addition, we depend on a number of small suppliers 
that may fail to meet our demand or our standards in terms of availability, costs, capacity and certainty of delivery. We will 
therefore potentially need to replace some of these suppliers. The replacement of these suppliers will take time and may results in 
delays, even if we believe that alternative sources of supply are readily available for most component parts. We also rely on 
certain third-party licensors like Koninklijke Philips N.V. for use of their patents in our solutions and products.  

Any interruption or delay in the supply of components, or any impediment to our ability to obtain components from alternate sources 
at acceptable prices in a timely manner, or to our ability to replace one or all of our existing licensors for third-party technologies 
incorporated into our solutions and products could have material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows.  

Supply Requirements 

We provide non-binding forecasts of our requirements to some of our suppliers up to six months prior to scheduled delivery of 
products to our customers. We thus have a lack of direct control over our suppliers’ production and delivery schedules. If we 
overestimate our forecasted requirements, we may have excess inventory, which could harm our relationship with our suppliers due to 
reduced future orders, increase our costs and require inventory write-offs. If we underestimate our requests, we may have an 
inadequate inventory of parts, which could interrupt the manufacturing of our products and result in shipment delays.  

International Supply Chain 

We may be subject to various import duties applicable to materials manufactured in foreign countries and may be affected by 
various other import and export restrictions, as well as other considerations or developments impacting upon international trade, 
including economic or political instability, shipping delays and product quotas. These international trade factors will, under certain 
circumstances, have an impact both on cost of components (which will, in turn, have an impact on the cost to us of the manufactured 
product) and the selling prices of our solutions and products. If we fail to comply with international trade laws and regulations, we 
could be liable for administrative, civil or criminal liabilities.  

Project-Based Success 

Our success is largely dependent on our ability to deliver our LED lighting solutions on a per-project basis. Our customers are 
generally not obligated for any long-term commitments to us and our engagements with our customers are typically for projects that 
are singular in nature. There are a number of factors that are outside of our control which might lead our customers or the end-users to 
terminate a contract or project with us, including financial difficulties or a change in strategic priorities, resulting in the elimination of 
the impetus for the project or a reduced level of spending. Failure to perform or observe any of our contractual obligations could 
result in cancellation of a contract, which could harm our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows.  

The project-based nature of our business makes our future revenues uncertain. We may not be able to replace any end-user for whom 
we have completed a project, which could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. 

Intellectual Property 

Our success and ability to compete depend in part upon the proprietary nature of, and protection for, our products, technologies, 
processes and know-how. We rely on a combination of patents, trade secrets, trademarks and contractual restrictions to establish 
and protect our intellectual property rights in Canada, the United States and internationally. However, the steps we take to protect 
our intellectual property rights may be inadequate. 

To protect some of our technologies, we have chosen to rely primarily on trade secrets rather than seeking protection through patents. 
Trade secrets are inherently difficult to protect. In order to protect our intellectual property rights, including our proprietary 
technologies and trade secrets, we rely in part on security measures, as well as contractual restrictions with our employees, licensees 
and other third parties. These measures and contractual restrictions may not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information, 
including trade secrets, and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. 
While we believe we use reasonable efforts to protect our trade secrets, we could potentially lose future trade secret protection if any 
unintentional or willful disclosure by our directors, employees, consultants or contractors of such information occurs, including 
disclosure by employees during or after the termination of their employment with us, in particular if they were to join one of our 
competitors. Laws regarding trade secret rights in certain markets in which we operate may afford little or no protection. The loss of 
trade secret protection could make it easier for third parties to compete with our products by copying functionality. 

We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights. Litigation brought to protect 
and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming and distracting to management and could result in the 
impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be 
met with defences, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. In 
addition, our competitors may develop products similar to ours that do not conflict with our intellectual property rights, may design 
around our intellectual property rights or may independently develop similar or superior technology. Our failure to establish, protect 
and enforce our intellectual property rights could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. 



72 73

Management's Discussion and Analysis Management's Discussion and Analysis

Intellectual Property Infringement 

Our competitors, as well as a number of other entities and individuals, may claim that we infringe their intellectual property rights. 
Although we do not believe that our products or solutions infringe on intellectual property rights of any third parties, there can be no 
assurance that infringement or invalidity claims (or claims for indemnification from infringement claims) will not be asserted or 
prosecuted against us, or that any such assertions or prosecutions will not adversely affect our business, prospects, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows. Irrespective of the validity or the successful assertion of such claims, we could incur 
significant costs and diversion of resources with respect to the defence thereof, which could have an adverse effect on business, 
prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

In addition, although we believe that we have obtained proper licenses for all third-party proprietary technology that is integrated into 
our products or solutions, third parties may assert infringement claims against us in the future. Any such assertion may result in 
litigation or may require us to obtain a license for the intellectual property rights of third parties. Such licenses may not be available, 
or they may not be available on reasonable terms. In addition, such litigation could be disruptive to our ability to generate revenue or 
enter into new market opportunities and may result in significantly increased costs as a result of our defence against those claims or 
our attempt to license the intellectual property rights or rework our products to ensure they comply with judicial decisions. We may 
also have to indemnify certain customers if it is determined that we have infringed upon or misappropriated another party’s 
intellectual property. Even if we were to prevail, any litigation regarding intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming and 
divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. Any of the foregoing could have an adverse 
effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Managing Acquisitions 

Although we have no agreement or commitment with respect to any acquisition at this time, we will consider taking advantage of our 
strong balance sheet to make strategic acquisitions, of assets or companies, by targeting either complementary LED products and 
technologies that will broaden our offering or companies with an international presence that can provide us with additional channels 
to markets that we currently underserve. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the attention of management and cause us to 
incur various expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not they are consummated. 

In addition, we have limited experience in acquiring other businesses. If we acquire additional businesses, we may not be able to 
integrate the acquired personnel, operations and technologies successfully, or effectively manage the combined business following 
the acquisition. We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquired business due to a number of factors, including: 

• unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition;  

• incurrence of acquisition-related costs;  

• diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;  

• harm to our existing business relationships with business partners as a result of the acquisition;  

• the potential loss of key employees;  

• use of resources that are needed in other parts of our business;  

• use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the acquisition; and  

• possible inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures among the combined companies and need to implement new 
financial, accounting, information or other systems.  

Any or all of the above factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.  

 

Product Defects and Design Risks 

Our solutions and products are complex and must meet the stringent technical requirements of specifiers and the needs of end-users. 
Our solutions and products may contain undetected errors or defects and may be installed or used incorrectly. In addition, we may 
also experience quality or reliability problems. In addition, errors of defects in third-party suppliers’ components used in our solutions 
products could result in errors or defects. All of the foregoing could result in the rejection of our solutions and products by industry 
participants and damage to our reputation, repaid and remediation costs and lost revenues, any of which could harm our business. 
Although we have product liability insurance, there is no assurance that such insurance will be sufficient or will continue to be 
available on reasonable terms.  

In addition, we provide a limited warranty on products we manufacture. The warranty generally provides that products will be free 
from defects for periods of five years or, in limited circumstances, ten years. If a product fails to comply with the warranty, we may 
be obligated, at our expense, to correct any defect by repairing or replacing the product. Although we maintain warranty reserves in 
an amount based primarily on production and historical and anticipated warranty claims, there can be no assurance that future 
warranty claims will follow historical patterns or that we can accurately anticipate the level of future warranty claims. An increase in 
the rate of warranty claims, the occurrence of unexpected warranty claims or product liability lawsuits could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

We could also have to make major product recalls or could be held liable should our solutions and products fail to meet safety 
standards or statutory requirements on product safety or consumer protection. Our insurance policies currently do not cover recalls. 
The repair and replacement costs that we could incur in connection with a recall, as well as the diversion of our personnel’s attention 
from our business operations, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. Product recalls could also harm our reputation and cause us to lose customers, particularly if such recalls 
cause consumers to question the safety or reliability of our products. 

Reliance on Key Personnel 

Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key employees. From time to time, there 
may be changes in our executive management team resulting from the hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt our 
business. If we are unable to attract and retain top talents, our ability to compete may be harmed. Our success is also highly 
dependent on our continuing ability to identify, hire, train, retain and motivate highly qualified personnel. Competition for highly 
skilled technical, research and development, management, sales and other employees is high in our industry, and we may not be 
successful in attracting and retaining such personnel. Failure to attract and retain qualified executive officers and other key employees 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

Facilities 

We assemble our LED lighting solutions and products in our manufacturing facilities in Montreal, Québec, Manchester, England and 
Québec City, Québec and we hold inventory in a dedicated space in Dorval, Québec. Tangible property at each of these locations 
is subject to risk of fire, flood, earthquake, tornado, hurricane, acts of war or terrorism or other natural acts of God. In the event of 
such events or acts, there could be delays in production and shipment of our products due to both losses of inventory and/or 
capacity to produce. There can be no guarantee that we will be able to renew the leases for our existing facilities or find alternative 
facilities that meet our current and future needs on favourable terms, or at all.  

We do not own any real-property and we are subject to risks resulting from lease agreements, such as contract expiration. If we are 
unable to extend the term of our lease agreements, or if we were to require additional space due to an increase in the demand for 
our solutions and products, we might have to relocate and might incur significant capital expenditures in doing so. Moreover, our 
corporate headquarters in Montreal, Québec are part of a larger building that is being partially transformed into a residential 
condominium complex. While we have a long term lease with the landlord, the modifications to the building could render our 
operations more difficult and negatively impact our costs of operations, and potentially force us to move our corporate headquarters 
and find substitute space. While such a move would not include the transfer of heavy equipment, it could still negatively impact our 
operations for a period of time. 
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Fluctuations in Quarterly Operating Results 

Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. If our quarterly 
financial results fall below the expectations of investors or any securities analysts who follow our Company, the price of our Common 
Shares could decline substantially. Fluctuations in our quarterly financial results may be caused by a number of factors, including, but 
not limited to, those listed below:  

• our ability to attract new business;

• our ability to secure agents and VARs;

• the timing of large projects that will occur or not in a given quarter;

• modification or cancellation of orders and schedules and disputes or difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

• changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

• seasonal variations in the demand for our solutions and products, which tend to be lower in the third quarter of a fiscal 
year;

• the amount and timing of operating expenses, particularly sales and marketing, related to the maintenance and expansion 
of our business, operations and infrastructure;

• the timing and success of new product introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the competitive 
dynamics of our industry, including consolidation among our competitors or suppliers;

• litigation expenses;

• changes in personnel;

• changes in accounting rules and tax or other laws;

• changes in currency exchange rates; and

• general economic, industry and market conditions. 

At this stage of our growth, we expect our business will experience seasonal fluctuations, but the pattern and the extent of how it will 
affect demand going forward is difficult to predict. We believe that our quarterly results of operations, including the levels of our 
revenue, may vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful. 
You should not rely on the results of any of one quarter as an indication of future performance.  

Exchange Rate Fluctuations 

We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. We report our financial results in Canadian dollars as a significant portion 
of our business is conducted in Canada. However, as we anticipate our international business will grow, the percentage of our 
revenue received in foreign currencies will increase. Accordingly, we are subject to, and may increasingly be subject to, currency 
fluctuations that may, from time to time, affect our financial position and performance. Further, a significant amount of our expenses 
are paid in U.S. dollars, including component purchases. As a result, we are exposed to currency risk on these transactions. Any 
fluctuation in the exchange rate of these currencies may negatively impact our business, financial condition and operating results. 
We do not currently engage in hedging transactions. However, we may decide to introduce a hedging program going forward. 
We can provide no assurance that any future hedging activities will be effective. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates 
could also have a material adverse effect on the relative competition position of our solutions and products in markets where we face 
competition from competitors that are less affected, or advantaged, by such fluctuations in exchange rates. 

Commodity Price Risk 

We are subject to commodity price risk relating principally to fluctuations in material prices used in the supply chain, such as 
aluminum and steel. Significant fluctuations in the prices of raw materials used in the composition of the parts and components of our 
solutions and products could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows. 

Additional Capital Requirements 

We have incurred annual losses over a number of years and we plan on continuing to make significant expenditures to support our 
business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges, including the need to expand sales and 
marketing activities, develop new technologies to enhance our existing products, enhance our operating infrastructure, and acquire 
complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional 
funds. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing shareholders could 
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of 
holders of our Common Shares. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our 
capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which might make it more difficult for us to obtain additional 
capital and to pursue business opportunities.  

We can provide no assurance that sufficient debt or equity financing will be available on reasonable terms or at all to support our 
business growth and to respond to business challenges and failure to obtain sufficient debt or equity financing when required could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

Risks Related to Tax Matters 

With operations and sales in various countries, we are subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions around the world. Our effective 
income tax rate could be adversely affected in the future as a result of a number of factors, including changes in the mix of earnings 
in jurisdictions with differing statutory tax rates, the outcome of income tax audits and changes in the applicable tax principles, 
including increased statutory tax rates, new tax laws or precedents or revised interpretations of existing tax laws and precedents. We 
regularly assess all of these matters to determine the adequacy of the determination of our tax liabilities. If any of our assessments turn 
out to be incorrect it could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows.  

We conduct operations in jurisdictions other than Canada pursuant to transfer pricing arrangements with our subsidiaries. The tax 
laws of the jurisdictions in which we operate, including Canada, generally require that transactions with related non-resident 
companies be carried out at terms, including price, similar to those that would be used between unrelated companies dealing at 
arm’s length. While we believe that we operate in compliance with such applicable transfer pricing principles and laws and intend 
to continue to do so, our transfer pricing arrangements could be challenged. If tax authorities in any of these jurisdictions were to 
successfully challenge our transfer pricing terms and conditions as not reflecting arm’s length principles, they could adjust our transfer 
prices and thereby reallocate our income between jurisdictions resulting in increased tax, as well as interest and potentially penalties, 
which could result in a higher tax liability to us.  

Although we believe that the expenses and tax credits we claimed, including research and development expenses and tax credits, 
have been reasonably determined, there can be no assurance that the Canadian and applicable foreign tax authorities will agree. If 
a tax authority were to successfully challenge determination of such expenses or tax credits claimed, or if a tax authority were to 
reduce any tax credit either by reducing the applicable rate of the grant or by challenging the eligibility of some research and 
development expenses in the future, our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be 
materially adversely affected. Starting in the taxation year in which we completed the IPO, we are no longer eligible to the 
enhanced federal investment tax credits and we are not entitled to claim Canadian refundable investment tax credits for our eligible 
research and development costs. Instead, these costs will generate non-refundable tax credits that can only be applied against 
income taxes payable. At the provincial level we will continue to be entitled to refundable Quebec research and development tax 
credits. Quebec’s current rate is 14% for a Canadian-controlled corporation with assets exceeding $75 million. We recognized 
approximately $0.4 million and $0.1 million of investment tax credits in Canada in Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2015 respectively.  

Reduction or Elimination of Investment or Incentives for LED Technology 

The reduction or elimination of investments in, or incentives to adopt, LED lighting or the elimination of, or changes in, policies, 
incentives or rebates in certain states or countries that encourage the use of LEDs over some traditional lighting technologies could 
cause the growth in demand for our solutions and products to slow, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

Legislation and the global trend toward environmental consciousness are critical demand drivers for energy efficient lighting. 
Governments, industry associations, and industrial and residential consumers are moving toward employing LED lighting solutions that 
comply with such regulatory requirements, save energy and minimize ecological footprint as components present minimal threat to the 
environment when disposed. Reductions in, or the elimination of, government investment and favorable energy policies could result in 
decreased demand for our solutions and products and could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows.  
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Brand and Corporate Reputation 

We market our solutions and products with distinctive trademarks and branding. We believe that our reputation and trademarks are 
significant contributors to our success. Any negative publicity about our solutions and products could diminish customer trust, do 
significant damage to our reputation and trademarks and could negatively impact our sales. Failure to maintain a strong brand and 
corporate reputation in any of the markets in which our solutions and products are distributed could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Credit Risk 

We are exposed to credit risk, in particular relating to trade receivables arising from our ordinary course of business. Credit risk is 
defined as an unexpected loss in cash and earnings from the failure of a customer to pay its obligations in due time or if the value of 
property that serves as collateral declines. We sell our products to electrical wholesale distributors, VARs, and sometimes directly to 
contractors or end-users. As a result, we have an exposure to credit risk related to trade balances owing mainly from our distributors 
and VARs. In order to mitigate credit risk, we currently insure most of our material receivables from United States customers with 
Export Development Canada and most of our material receivables from international customers are covered by letters of credit. Even 
if we take these risk mitigation measures and establish an allowance for doubtful accounts that corresponds to the credit risk of our 
customers in light of historical trends and economic circumstances, our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows could be materially adversely affected if a deterioration of economic or business conditions resulted in a weakening 
of the financial condition of a material number of our customers, causing them to default on their balances owing. 

Information Technology Interruptions or Breaches 

Our business operations are managed through a variety of information technology systems. These systems govern all aspects of our 
operations and client accounts. While we have implemented a number of measures to keep our technology systems fully operational 
and to mitigate the risks associated with a failure of our systems, our systems are subject to damage or interruption from power 
outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer viruses, cyber-attacks, security breaches, catastrophic events such as 
fires, floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes, acts of war or terrorism, and usage errors by our employees. If our information 
technology systems are damaged or cease to function properly, we may have to make a significant investment to fix or replace them 
and we may suffer loss of critical data and interruptions or delays in our operations in the interim. Any material interruption in our 
information technology systems could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. 

Consolidated Financial Statements of

Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014
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KPMG LLP Telephone  (514) 840-2100 
600 de Maisonneuve Blvd. West Fax (514) 840-2187 
Suite 1500 Internet www.kpmg.ca 
Tour KPMG 
Montréal (Québec)  H3A 0A3 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Lumenpulse Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Lumenpulse Inc., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at April 30, 2015 and April 30, 2014, the consolidated statements of loss, 
comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Lumenpulse Inc. as at April 30, 2015 and April 30, 2014, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

June 17, 2015 

Montréal, Canada 
 
 
*CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A111162 
 
 KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG  

network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
("KPMG International"), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 

As at April 30, 2015 and 2014 

2015 2014 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 43,480 $ 87,057 
Accounts receivable (note 7) 22,368 13,491 
Inventories (note 8) 19,844 6,999 
Investment tax credits receivable 561 214 
Income taxes receivable 545 –  
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,076 689 

87,874 108,450 

Other receivables 445 240 
Deferred tax assets (note 20) 488 –  
Property, plant and equipment (note 9) 6,775 4,024 
Intangible assets (note 10) 15,171 5,126 
Goodwill (notes 5 and 10) 15,869 –  
Unallocated goodwill and acquired intangible assets (notes 5 and 10) 3,844 –  

Total assets $ 130,466 $ 117,840 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 20,311 $ 11,410 
Income taxes payable 436 418 
Other liabilities 961 237 
Current portion of deferred lease inducements 53 49 
Current portion of finance lease obligations 

and other loans (note 12) 132 55 

21,893 12,169 

Deferred lease inducements 253 297 
Long-term portion of finance lease obligations and other loans (note 12) 134 108 
Other long-term liabilities 277 –  
Deferred tax liabilities (note 20) 86 14 

Total liabilities 22,643 12,588 

Shareholders’ equity: 
Share capital (note 15) 137,740 135,003 
Contributed surplus 6,860 7,092 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 431 –  
Deficit (37,208) (36,843) 

Total shareholders’ equity 107,823 105,252 

Commitments (note 23) 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 130,466 $ 117,840 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

On behalf of the Board:  
(signed) Francois-Xavier Souvay, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer  
(signed) Pierre Fitzgibbon, Chair of the Audit Committee 
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Consolidated Statements of Loss 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share data) 

Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

2015 2014 

Revenues: 
Lumenpulse products $ 88,454 $ 48,457 
Other manufacturers’ products 12,231 13,757 

100,685 62,214 

Cost of sales 57,476 36,356 

Gross profit 43,209 25,858 

Operating expenses (note 18): 
Selling and marketing 25,439 17,739 
Research and development 4,789 3,132 
General and administrative 14,607 8,947 

Total operating expenses 44,835 29,818 

Operating loss (1,626) (3,960) 

Financing (income) costs, net (note 13) (1,185) 44,481 

Loss before income taxes (441) (48,441) 

Income taxes (note 20): 
Current 259 834 
Deferred (335) (97) 

(76) 737 

Net loss $ (365) $ (49,178) 

Loss per share (note 16): 
Basic and diluted $ (0.02) $ (4.17) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

2015 2014 

Net loss $ (365) $ (49,178) 

Other comprehensive income: 
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to the 

consolidated statements of loss, net of tax: 
Currency translation differences 431 –  

Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 66 $ (49,178) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except share data) 

Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

Accumulated 
other 

Share capital Contributed comprehensive 
Number Dollars surplus income Deficit Total 

Balance as at April 30, 2014 23,090,574 $ 135,003 $ 7,092 $ – $ (36,843) $105,252

Net loss –  –  –  –  (365) (365) 

Foreign currency translation 
differences for foreign 
operations –  –  –  431 –  431 

Transactions with owners of 

–  47 –  –  –  47 

the Company recognized 
directly in equity 
Share issuance costs

Share options and warrants 
372,730 2,690 (1,021) –  –  1,669 exercised (note 15 and 17) 

Excess tax benefit resulting  
from the excess deductible 
amount over share-based  
compensation cost 
recognized (note 15) –  –  298 –  298 

Share-based compensation 
expense (note 17) –  –  491 –  –  491 

Balance as at April 30, 2015 23,463,304 $ 137,740 $ 6,860 $ 431 $ (37,208) $107,823 

Balance as at April 30, 2013  11,284,448 $ 3,538 $ 5,385 $ – $ (34,735) $ (25,812)

Net loss –  –  –  –  (49,178) (49,178) 

Transactions with owners of 
the Company recognized 
directly in equity 
Issuance of common shares 

115,000 –  –  – 115,000

(10,363) –  –  – (10,363)
upon public offering (note 15)  

Share issuance costs (note 15) –
Conversion of preferred  

shares (note 15) 4,618,626 26,828 47,070 –  –  73,898 
Reduction of share 

–  –  (47,070) –  47,070 –  premium (note 15)  

Share-based compensation 
expense (note 17) –  –  1,707 –  –  1,707 

Balance as at April 30, 2014 23,090,574 $ 135,003 $ 7,092 $ – $ (36,843) $105,252

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

7,187,500

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

2015 2014 

Operating activities: 
Net loss $ (365) $ (49,178) 
Adjustments: 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 1,555 1,440 
Amortization of intangible assets 1,625 611 
Loss on retirement of property plant and equipment  ‒ 41 
Lease inducements, net  (40) (50) 
Amortization of deferred financing costs ‒ 422 
Other interest (income) expense, net  (478) 1,972 
Foreign exchange gain (429) (42) 
Net change of the carrying value of the redeemable shares at the option 

of the holders and related financial derivative liability ‒ 42,067 
Share-based compensation expense 491 1,707 
Income tax expense (76) 737 

Interest received (paid) 461 (2,137) 
Income taxes paid (863) (689) 

1,881 (3,099) 

Net change in non-cash operating items (note 21 (a)) (8,235) (2,434) 

(6,354) (5,533) 

Investing activities: 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,544) (1,913) 
Additions to intangible assets (1,496) (686) 
Business acquisitions (note 5) (34,189) ‒ 

(39,229) (2,599) 

Financing activities: 
Net change of bank indebtedness ‒ (1,470) 
Issuance of long-term debt ‒ 2,000 
Repayment of long-term debt ‒  (11,000) 
Repayment of obligations under finance leases and other loans (154) (157) 
Share issuance recovery (costs) (note 15) 47 (10,363) 
Proceeds from issuance of share capital upon public  

offering (note 15) ‒ 115,000 
Proceeds from issuance of share capital under stock option plan (note 17) 1,669 ‒ 
Debt issuance costs ‒ (71) 

1,562 93,939 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 444 43 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (43,577) 85,850 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 87,057 1,207 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 43,480 $ 87,057 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

1. Description of business:

Lumenpulse Inc. (the “Company”) is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act. The Company’s head office is
located at 1751 Richardson Street, Suite 1505, Montréal, Québec, Canada.

The Company is engaged in the design, development, assembly and sale of lighting products. Product revenues represent the
sale of the Company’s architectural light-emitting diode (“LED”) lighting products. Other manufacturers’ products represent the
sale of other manufacturers’ LED and non-LED lighting products. The Company currently sells to a diverse base of customers
primarily in Canada, the United States and the United Kingdom, and is expanding internationally.

On April 15, 2014, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) and its shares began trading on the Toronto
Stock Exchange under the symbol “LMP”.

2. Basis of preparation:

(a) Statement of compliance:

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries 
(Lumenpulse Lighting Inc., Luxtec Lighting Group Inc., Lumenpulse Lighting Corp., Lumenpulse UK Limited, Lumenarea 
Lighting Inc., Lumenpulse Controls Inc., and Lumenpulse AlphaLED Limited). Control is achieved where the Company has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The 
subsidiaries have the same financial year-end as the Company. All intercompany transactions and balances have been 
eliminated upon consolidation. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Company on 
June 17, 2015. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items in the 
consolidated statements of financial position:  

•    Financial derivatives, which are measured at fair value; 

•    Other liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements, which are measured at fair value; 

•    Redeemable shares, which were measured at the redemption amount until converted into common shares and at fair 
value, including the related financial derivative liability, immediately prior to conversion. 

3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty:

The principal accounting policies are set out below:

(a) Functional and presentation currency:

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 
financial information has been rounded to the nearest thousand unless stated otherwise. 

(b) Inventories: 

Raw materials, work in process and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is 
determined on a first-in, first-out basis. The cost of work in process and finished goods includes the cost of raw materials 
and the applicable share of the cost of labour and fixed and variable production overheads. A provision is made for 
obsolete and slow-moving items based on their expected future use and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price less the estimated cost of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

(c) Property, plant and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

Cost includes the costs directly attributable to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment incurred up until the time it is 
in the condition necessary to be operated in the manner intended by management.  

A gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment, which is the difference between 
the proceeds from the disposal and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognized in the consolidated statements of loss. 

Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method and the following periods: 

Asset Period 

Equipment and tools 
Office furniture and fixtures 
Computer equipment 
Other equipment 
Leasehold improvements 

5 years 
5 years 
3 years 
5 years 

5 to 10 years                  
(or based on term of lease) 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each year, with the effect of any change 
in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(d) Goodwill, trademarks, brand names and other intangibles assets:

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred in a given acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable 
net assets acquired and is initially recorded at that value. Goodwill is subsequently carried at cost less any impairment. 
Trademarks, brand names and indefinite life intangibles are initially recorded at their transaction fair values and 
subsequently carried at cost less any impairment losses. 

Goodwill, brand names and trademarks are not amortized. However, they are tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. When testing goodwill, the 
carrying values of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) or group of CGUs including goodwill are compared with their 
respective recoverable amounts (the greater of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use), and an impairment loss, if 
any, is recognized for the excess.  

When testing trademarks, brand names and indefinite life intangibles for impairment, the assets are grouped together into 
the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash flows of 
other assets or CGU’s. The carrying values are also compared to their recoverable amounts, and an impairment loss, if 
any, is recognized for the excess.  

Other intangible assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. 

Amortization is calculated on the respective estimated useful lives using the straight-line method and the following periods: 

Asset Period 

Software 3 years 
Deferred development costs 5 years 
Patents, licenses and intellectual property 5 to 20 years 
Customer relationships 8 years 

Estimated useful lives and the amortization method are reviewed at the end of each year, with the effect of any change in 
estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. 

(e) Leases: 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership that are not assumed by the Company are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company has substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of 
the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The property, plant and equipment acquired 
under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014 

(continued)

3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(f) Impairment of long-lived assets:

Non-financial assets with finite lives are assessed for impairment indicators. If any such indication exists, the Company 
estimates the net recoverable amount and records an impairment loss as the excess of the carrying amount over 
recoverable amount, if applicable. Any impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to 
sell or its value-in-use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-generating units” or “CGUs”). The Company evaluates impairment losses for 
potential reversals, when events or changes in circumstances warrant such considerations.  

(g) Deferred lease inducements: 

The benefits associated with lease inducements received on operating leases are recognized as a reduction in rent 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the respective leases.  

(h) Research and development costs: 

Research costs are charged to profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are charged to 
profit or loss, unless they meet specific criteria related to technical, market and financial feasibility in order to be 
capitalized. Deferred development costs, net of government assistance, are amortized starting from the date the products 
and services are commercialized. 

(i) Tax credits: 

Government assistance in the form of tax credits is recorded in the consolidated financial statements when earned and 
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be realized.  

(j) Provisions: 

A provision is recognized if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.  

(k) Income taxes: 

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for 
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(l) Loss per share:

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share, calculated by dividing the loss attributable to common 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted 
loss per share is determined by adjusting the loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding for the effects of all preferred shares, warrants and options outstanding that may add to the 
total number of common shares except when the effect would be anti-dilutive.  

The loss per share for all periods presented has been calculated as if the consolidation of the common shares on a 8.4 to 
1 basis had occurred on May 1, 2013. 

(m) Segment reporting: 

A reportable segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which the Company may 
earn revenues and incur expenses. All reportable segments operating results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s 
CEO (the chief operating decision maker) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis. 

(n) Foreign currency translation: 

The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar. Accordingly, the balance sheet accounts of foreign operations 
are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rates at the balance sheet dates and statements of earnings 
accounts are translated into Canadian dollars using the average monthly exchange rates in effect during the periods. The 
foreign currency translation differences presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) and the 
consolidated statements of changes in equity, represent accumulated foreign currency gains (losses) on the Company's net 
investments in companies operating outside Canada. The change in the unrealized gains (losses) on translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations for the periods presented resulted mainly from the fluctuation in value of the 
Canadian dollar as compared to the British pound sterling. 

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the reporting date, non-
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the transaction date and revenue and expense items at the average rates for 
the period. Exchange gains or losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive income 
(loss). 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(o) Share-based compensation:

Stock option plan 

The Company applies the fair value method of accounting for share-based payments. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for awards granted is measured by using the Black-Scholes options 
pricing model. 

Share-based compensation expense for share options granted to employees, net of forfeitures, is recognized over the 
vesting period using graded vesting and is included in cost of sales, selling and marketing, research and development and 
general and administrative expenses, with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. Any consideration paid by plan 
participants on the exercise of stock options, and the related amounts previously credited to contributed surplus, are 
credited to share capital. 

Deferred Share Unit plan 

The Company’s Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) plan for non-executive directors has been established to provide non-executive 
directors of the Company with the opportunity to acquire share equivalent units convertible to cash or common shares upon 
their ceasing to act as directors. 

Under the DSU plan, each eligible director can also elect, each fiscal year, to have up to 100%, but not less than 50%, of 
his director’s annual retainer fees converted into DSUs. These DSUs vest on the grant date. The related compensation 
expense is included in general and administrative expenses and its counterpart is accounted for in other liabilities until the 
DSUs are exercised at termination date. 

The Company, by choosing the cash settlement option for deferred share units granted, applies the liability accounting and 
recognition approach for its DSU plan. 

These DSUs are expensed on an awarded basis based on fair value at the grant date and remeasured each reporting 
period based on the market price of the Company's common shares. 

(p) Performance Stock Unit plan: 

The Company’s Performance Stock Unit (“PSU”) plan for executive officers, employees or consultants has been established 
to provide those participants with the opportunity to acquire share equivalent units convertible to cash or common shares 
depending on the level of attainment of the relevant performance objectives. 

These PSUs vest at the end of three years provided that the participant is still employed on the third anniversary of the grant, 
and conditional upon the achievement of the relevant performance objectives. The related compensation costs are included 
in the respective departmental operating expenses and their counterpart is accounted for in other long-term liabilities until 
vesting of the PSUs. 

The Company, by choosing the cash settlement option for performance stock units granted, applies the liability accounting 
and recognition approach for its PSU plan. 

These PSUs are expensed on an awarded and vested basis when it is likely that the performance conditions attached to the 
unit will be met. They are remeasured each reporting period at fair value, until settlement. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(q) Restricted Share Unit plan:

The Company’s Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) plan for executive officers, employees or consultants has been established to 
provide those participants with the opportunity to acquire share equivalent units convertible to cash or common shares. 
RSUs vest over a period of three years. The Company intends to settle these units in cash. The related compensation costs 
are included in the respective departmental operating expenses and their counterpart is accounted for in other liabilities 
until vesting of the RSUs, based on their current or long-term nature. 

These RSUs are expensed on an awarded and vested basis and they are remeasured each reporting period at fair value, 
until settlement. 

(r) Revenue recognition: 

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognized when significant risks 
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated 
costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the 
goods, and the amount can be measured reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognized. 

The transfer of risks and rewards occurs at shipment of the products to customers, since title passes upon shipment. 

(s) Financial instruments: 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets: 

The Company classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. 

The Company initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets 
are recognized initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(s) Financial instruments (continued):

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (continued): 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created by the 
Company is recognized as a separate asset or liability.  

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statements of financial 
position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a 
net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

Financial assets of the Company are classified as follows: 

Financial assets Category 

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables 
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables 
Other receivables Loans and receivables 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or less from the 
acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in their fair value, and are used by the Company in 
the management of its short- term commitments. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(s) Financial instruments (continued):

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities: 

The Company initially recognizes financial liabilities on the date that it becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. 

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

The Company classifies non-derivative financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. Such financial liabilities are 
recognized initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Financial liabilities of the Company are classified as follows: 

Financial liabilities Category 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities 
Other liabilities Other financial liabilities 
Finance lease obligations Other financial liabilities 

(iii) Share capital: 

Common shares 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares are 
recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

Common shares are classified as equity if they are non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the Company’s option, and 
any dividends are discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized as distributions within equity on approval by the 
Company’s shareholders. 

When share capital recognized as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, net of any tax effect, is recognized as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as 
treasury shares and are represented in the reserve for own shares. When treasury shares are subsequently sold or 
reissued, the amount received is recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on the 
transaction is presented in share premium. 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(s) Financial instruments (continued):

(iii) Share capital (continued): 

Preferred shares 

Preferred shares are classified as a financial liability if they are redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the 
shareholders, or if dividend payments are not discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized as interest expense in 
profit or loss as accrued. 

Prior to April 15, 2014, the Company had redeemable, convertible Class A preferred shares outstanding. Immediately 
prior to the IPO, these shares were converted into Class A common shares on a one-for-one basis. Upon reclassification 
from liability to equity, the difference between the fair value of the equity instruments issued on conversion and the 
carrying value of the liability was recognized in profit and loss. 

(iv) Hybrid and embedded derivative financial instruments: 

Hybrid financial instruments issued by the Company comprised the redeemable and convertible preferred shares that 
can be converted to common shares at the option of the holders, when the number of shares to be issued is not fixed. 

The non-derivative and derivative components on such instruments are separated and accounted for separately if the 
economic characteristics and risks of the debt host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related. 

Prior to April 15, 2014, the Company had redeemable, convertible Class A preferred shares outstanding. Immediately 
prior to the IPO, these shares were converted into Class A common shares on a one-for-one basis. 

Derivatives and embedded derivatives are recognized initially at fair value, and attributable transaction costs are 
recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives and separable embedded 
derivatives are measured at fair value, and all changes in their fair value are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

(t) Critical judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty: 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(t) Critical judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued):

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as follows: 

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets: 

As part of assessing property, plant and equipment, goodwill, and intangible assets for impairment, the recoverable 
value of a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is determined using a valuation method that requires the use of a number of 
methods, including the discounted future cash flow method. The consideration of how the CGU is determined requires 
judgment. In addition, the Company also uses its judgment to determine whether an impairment test must be performed 
due to the presence of potential impairment indicators. In applying its judgment, the Company relies primarily on its 
knowledge of its business and the economic environment. 

When a method based on discounted future cash flow is used, cash flow projections are made for the next five years, 
based on past experience and expected growth, and represent management’s best estimate of future results. Beyond 
this period, long-term growth is applied to the cash flows, consistent with the long-term growth assumptions of the 
Company considering various factors such as industry growth assumptions. The recoverable value of a CGU is also 
influenced by the discount rate used in the model, the growth rate, the average weighted cost of capital and tax rates. 

This method relies on numerous assumptions and estimates that may have a significant impact on the recoverable value 
of a CGU, and thereby on the amount of impairment, if any. The impact of material changes in assumptions and the 
review of estimates is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the changes occur or the estimates are 
reviewed, as required. 

Additional information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that may have a significant risk of resulting in 
adjustments within the next financial year are as follows: 

(i) Income taxes: 

In the calculation of current tax, the Company is required to make significant estimates due to the fact that it is subject 
to tax laws of the many jurisdictions in which it operates. Similarly, the amount of current tax may change as a result of 
various facts, such as future events, changes in income tax laws of the outcome of reviews by tax authorities and 
related appeals. 

In the calculation of deferred tax, estimates must be used to determine the appropriate rates and amounts and to take 
into account the probability of their occurrence. Deferred income tax assets also reflect the benefit of unutilized tax 
losses than can be carried forward to reduce income taxes in future years. This assessment requires the Company to 
exercise significant judgments in determining whether or not it is probable that the deferred income tax assets can be 
recovered from future taxable income and, therefore, that they can be recognized in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. The Company relies, among other things, on its past experience to apply its judgment. 

Once the final amounts have been determined, they may result in adjustments to current and deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities. 
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3. Significant accounting policies, accounting judgements and sources of uncertainty (continued):

(t) Critical judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued):

Additional information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that may have a significant risk of resulting in 
adjustments within the next financial year are as follows (continued): 

(ii) Provision for inventory obsolescence: 

The provision for inventory obsolescence is estimated by management based on turnover, age and obsolescence of 
parts, components and finished products. 

(iii) Warranty provision and provision for bad debts: 

The warranty provision is estimated based on recorded claim history. 

The provision for bad debts is estimated by management based on late payments, client relationships and default 
history. 

(iv) Share-based compensation: 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions entered into with its employees based on the fair value 
of the equity instruments on the grant date. Measuring the fair value of share-based payments transactions entails 
determining the most relevant pricing model depending on the terms and conditions of the rewards. This also requires 
determining the most appropriate inputs for the pricing model including the expected life of stock options, volatility and 
making assumptions about the inputs. 

(v) Business combinations: 

Under the acquisition method, on the date that control is obtained, the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquired business are measured at their fair values. Depending on the complexity of determining the 
valuation for certain assets, the Company uses appropriate valuation techniques in arriving at the estimated fair value 
at the acquisition date for these assets. These valuations are generally based on a forecast of the total expected future 
net discounted cash flows and relate closely to the assumptions made by management regarding the future 
performance of the related assets and the discount rate applied as it would be assumed by a market participant. 

(u) Changes in accounting estimates: 

In the last quarter of fiscal 2014, the Company adopted prospectively a change in accounting estimate that relates to its 
indefinite-life intangible asset intellectual property. The useful life of the intellectual property has been reviewed and 
changed from indefinite to finite with an estimated useful life of 20 years. The change from indefinite to finite life aligns 
the economic performance of the asset with key patents granted during fiscal 2014. 

In accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, the Company tested the asset for impairment by comparing the 
recoverable amount of the CGU with its carrying amount. The Company did not find any impairment as a result of this test. 
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4. Change in accounting policies:

(a) Accounting changes adopted during the year ended April 30, 2015:

The Company has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any consequential 
amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application of May 1, 2014. 

(i) IFRIC Interpretation 21 - Levies (“IFRIC 21”) 

IFRIC 21 was issued by the IASB in May 2013. IFRIC 21 provides guidance on when to recognize a liability for a 
levy imposed by a government both for levies that are accounted for in accordance with IAS 37, Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and those where the timing and amount of the levy is certain. A levy is an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits that is imposed by governments on entities in accordance with 
legislation, other than income taxes within the scope of IAS 12, Income Taxes, and fines or other penalties imposed 
for breaches of the legislation. The interpretation identifies the obligating event for the recognition of a liability as the 
activity that triggers the payment of the levy in accordance with the relevant legislation. It provides the following 
guidance on recognition of a liability to pay levies: (i) the liability is recognized progressively if the obligating event 
occurs over a period of time, and (ii) if an obligation is triggered on reaching a minimum threshold, the liability is 
recognized when that minimum threshold is reached. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact 
on the consolidated financial statements. 

(ii) In addition, as a result of the business acquisition referred to in Note 5, the Company applied the following 
accounting policy for the first time during the first quarter of fiscal 2015: 

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method. Accordingly, the consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of the business is the fair value of the assets transferred, and any debt and equity interests issued by the 
Company on the date control of the acquired company is obtained. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are generally measured at their 
fair values on the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of a business combination is less than the fair value of the net 
assets acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statements of income (loss) as a gain on 
acquisition.  
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4. Change in accounting policies (continued):

(b) Future accounting standards:

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”) 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 which establishes principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. It provides a single model in order to depict the 
transfer of promised goods of services to customers. IFRS 15 supersedes the following standards: IAS 11, Construction 
Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real 
Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31, Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Service. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods and 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods and services. IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that would result in an entity 
providing comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 
from the entity’s contracts with customers. The IASB has decided to propose to defer the effective date to January 1, 2018 
from the previous expected effective date of January 1, 2017. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the 
adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) 

Issued in July 2014, IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). This standard 
simplifies the classification of a financial asset as either at amortized cost or at fair value as opposed to the multiple 
classifications which were permitted under IAS 39. This standard also requires the use of a single impairment method as 
opposed to the multiple methods in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial 
instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The 
standard also adds guidance on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and introduces a new hedge 
accounting model. This IFRS, which is to be applied retrospectively, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018, with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of this standard 
on its consolidated financial statements. 
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5. Business acquisitions:

Projection Lighting Limited

On July 1, 2014, the Company acquired substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of Projection Lighting Limited
(“Projection Lighting”), a manufacturer of LED solutions for retail, display and architectural applications.

Projection Lighting was founded in 1991 and was a private company headquartered in Manchester, UK, operating under the
name AlphaLED throughout Europe, but predominantly in the UK. Management believes that, by expanding the AlphaLED
products through Lumenpulse’s channels and markets and vice-versa, there is great potential for revenue enhancing synergies.

The total cash outlay associated with the acquisition was $30,264 (GBP 16,573), including working capital of $4,903 (GBP
2,684), but excluding acquisition costs of $1,068. The acquisition costs are included as part of general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of loss. The consideration was paid using the Company’s available cash on hand.

The following is a summary of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the consideration transferred as at the acquisition
date:

Fair value 

Assets acquired: 
Accounts receivable $ 3,474 
Inventory 3,238 
Prepaid expenses and supplies 101 
Property, plant and equipment 216 

Goodwill and acquired intangible assets: 
Brand name 1,800 
Intellectual property 1,400 
Customer relationships 6,300 
Goodwill 15,645 

Total goodwill and acquired intangible assets 25,145 

Total assets 32,174 

Liabilities assumed: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,910 

Total net assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 30,264 
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5. Business acquisitions (continued):

Projection Lighting Limited (continued)

Since the date of acquisition, July 1, 2014, the acquiree’s sales and gross profit amounted to $20,295 and $7,791,
respectively. On a pro forma basis, management’s estimate of sales and income before income taxes of the combined
operations of the Company and Lumenpulse AlphaLED Limited, for the year ended April 30, 2015, would have been
approximately $104,268 and ($380), respectively, had the Projection Lighting acquisition occurred as of May 1, 2014. The
pro forma information was prepared using the unaudited historical information obtained from the acquiree for the period from
May 1, 2014, to June 30, 2014, and does not reflect the benefits of integration activities, synergies or changes to historical
transactions that may have resulted had the acquisition actually occurred on the dates indicated. To arrive at the pro forma
estimates, management assumed that the fair value adjustments made at the acquisition date would have been the same had
the acquisition occurred on May 1, 2014. The pro forma amounts are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations of
the Company that would have resulted had the acquisition actually occurred on May 1, 2014, or the results that may be
obtained in the future.

Ariane Controls Inc.

On February 1, 2015, the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of Ariane Controls Inc., which specialised
in powerline communication technology, enabling the Company to accelerate the adoption of its Lumentalk technology, and
further develop its full market potential.

The purchase price for the acquisition was $1,350, including a holdback of $200, payable in November 2015. At the
acquisition date, $893 was allocated to goodwill and identifiable intangible assets and $457 to net acquired assets. The final
allocation of the purchase price will be completed in the next fiscal year.

The impact of this acquisition was not material for to the Company.

SDL Lighting Inc.

On March 16, 2015, the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of SDL Lighting Inc., a designer and
manufacturer of outdoor LED luminaires for area, urban, pedestrian and landscape lighting, adding fully complementary LED
solutions to the Company’s product portfolio, in order to expand the Company’s addressable market.

The purchase price for the acquisition was $3,125, including a holdback of $350, payable in March 2016. At the acquisition
date, $2,951 was allocated to goodwill and identifiable intangible assets and $174 was allocated to net acquired assets. The
final allocation of the purchase price will be completed in the next fiscal year.

The impact of this acquisition was not material for the Company.
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6. Operating segments:

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”), who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”).

The CODM separately considers two reportable segments: Lumenpulse LED products (“LP”) and other manufacturers’ products
(“OMP”). The CODM reviews segment performance and allocates resources based upon segment revenues and segment gross
profit.

Reportable segments description 

Lumenpulse products (“LP”)

The Company's LP products consist of LED lighting solutions. The Company designs, manufactures and sells lighting fixtures and
solutions for indoor and outdoor applications with its primary focus on the commercial, institutional and urban environment
markets. The LED fixtures are primarily sold to distributors, value added re-sellers, and contractors or end-customers.

Other manufacturers’ products (“OMP”) 

OMP consist of products designed and manufactured by manufacturers other than the Company and can include both LED and
traditional lighting fixtures.

Financial results by reportable segments 

The accounting policies used to determine the segment performance are substantially the same as those used in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s CODM does not review intersegment revenue when evaluating segment performance and allocating resources
to each segment. Thus, intersegment revenue is not included in the segment revenues presented in the table below. In addition,
the Company does not allocate assets and liabilities to the reportable segments because the Company’s CODM does not
review them when assessing segment performance and allocation of resources. The Company’s CODM reviews all assets and
liabilities on a consolidated basis.

The Company’s CODM reviews gross profit as the lowest and only level of segment profit. As such, all items below the gross
profit in the consolidated statements of loss are included in the table below to reconcile with the Company’s consolidated net
loss.

In order to determine gross profit for each reportable segment, the Company allocates direct and indirect costs to cost of sales.
Indirect costs are allocated when they are identifiable and beneficial to the reportable segment. Inventory is transferred to the
reportable segments at cost, following the first-in first-out valuation method.
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6. Operating segments (continued):

Financial results by reportable segments (continued)

The table below outlines the results of the Company's reportable segments as reviewed by the CODM for the years ended
April 30, 2015 and 2014:

Corporate 
LP OMP (unallocated) Total 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Revenue $ 88,454 $ 48,457 $ 12,231 $ 13,757 $ ‒  $ ‒  $ 100,685 $ 62,214 
Cost of sales 49,307 27,448 8,169 8,908 ‒  ‒  57,476 36,356 

Gross profit 39,147 21,009 4,062 4,849 ‒  ‒  43,209 25,858 

Operating expenses 44,835 29,818 44,835 29,818 
Financing (income)  

costs, net (1,185) 44,481 (1,185) 44,481 

Loss before income taxes (441) (48,441) 

Income taxes (76) 737 

Net loss $ (365) $ (49,178) 

Geographic information 

The Company's products are sold on a worldwide basis but the Company operates sales offices in Canada, the United States, 
the United Kingdom and France. 

The international region is defined as being all jurisdictions except Canada and the United States. 

In presenting information on the basis of geography, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. 
Revenue by geographic areas is presented in the table below: 

2015 2014 

Canada $ 23,317 $ 23,616 
United States 45,460 32,910 
International 31,908 5,688 

$ 100,685 $ 62,214 

Concentrations 

In fiscal 2015, there was no one individual customer representing more than 10% of revenues. 

In fiscal 2014, there was one individual customer representing approximately $7,263 of revenues. These revenues are 
attributable to the LP and OMP segments. 
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7. Accounts receivable:

2015 2014 

Trade receivables $ 22,261 $ 13,513 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (275) (295) 

21,986 13,218 

Other accounts receivable 382 273 

$ 22,368 $ 13,491 

8. Inventories:

2015 2014 

Raw materials $ 17,672 $ 6,145 
Work-in-progress 261 81 
Finished goods 1,911 773 

$ 19,844 $ 6,999 

The amount of inventories recognized as an expense during the year ended April 30, 2015 amounts to $52,828 (2014 - 
$33,263), including an inventory write-down of $96 (2014 - $10). 

9. Property, plant and equipment:

2015 2014 

Cost $ 11,179 $ 6,902 
Accumulated amortization 4,404 2,878 

$ 6,775 $ 4,024 
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9. Property, plant and equipment (continued):

Office 
furniture 

Equipment and Computer Other Leasehold 
and tools fixtures equipment equipment improvements Total 

Cost or deemed cost 
Balance as at  

April 30, 2013 $ 1,012 $ 813 $ 878 $ 1,399 $ 2,466 $ 6,568 
Additions 514 258 220 225 202 1,419 
Retirements and disposals (198) (167) (437) (239) (44) (1,085) 

Balance as at 
April 30, 2014 1,328 904 661 1,385 2,624 6,902 

Additions 1,615 314 475 740 525 3,669 
Business acquisitions (note 5) 223 56 15 35 305 634 
Foreign exchange differences ‒  ‒  ‒  ‒  3 3 
Retirements and disposals (29) ‒  ‒  ‒  ‒  (29) 

Balance as at 
April 30, 2015 $ 3,137 $ 1,274 $ 1,151 $ 2,160 $ 3,457 $ 11,179 

Accumulated amortization 
Balance as at  

April 30, 2013 $ 397 $ 296 $ 564 $ 559 $ 666 $ 2,482 
Amortization 226 159 220 546 289 1,440 
Retirements and disposals (195) (167) (437) (238) (7) (1,044) 

Balance as at 
April 30, 2014 428 288 347 867 948 2,878 

Amortization 409 175 213 430 328 1,555 
Retirements and disposals (29) ‒  ‒  ‒  ‒  (29) 

Balance as at 
April 30, 2015 $ 808 $ 463 $ 560 $ 1,297 $ 1,276 $ 4,404 
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9. Property, plant and equipment (continued):

Amortization 

The Company’s consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive income (loss) include amortization and loss of retirement of
property, plant and equipment of $1,555 for the year ended April 30, 2015 (2014 - $1,481) classified in cost of sales,
selling and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses.

2015 2014 

Cost of sales $ 405 $ 210 
Selling and marketing 462 754 
Research and development 36 134 
General and administrative 652 383 

$ 1,555 $ 1,481 

Non-cash investing activities 

Non-cash investing activities have been disclosed in Note 21. 

Leased assets 

As at April 30, 2015, the net carrying amount of leased assets is $115 (2014 - $99). The leased assets secure finance lease 
obligations. During the year ended April 30, 2015, the Company acquired leased assets for $21 (2014 - nil).  

10. Goodwill and intangible assets:

Intangible assets 2015 2014 

Cost amount $ 17,803 $ 6,431 
Accumulated amortization 2,632 1,305 

Net carrying amount $ 15,171 $ 5,126 
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10. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued):

Definite life Indefinite life 
Unallocated 

Patents, Brand goodwill and 
Deferred licences and name acquired 

development intellectual Customer and trade- intangible 
Software fees property relationships marks Total assets 

Cost or deemed cost 
Balance as at  

$ 1,189 $ 399 $ 4,012 $ −  $ 200 $ 5,800 $ −  
346 122 325 −  −  793 −  

April 30, 2013 
Additions 
Retirements and 

disposals (162) −  −  −  −  (162) −  

Balance as at 
April 30, 2014 1,373 521 4,337 −  200 6,431 −  

Additions 938 136 659 −  163 1,896 −  
Business  

acquisitions (note 5) 7 −  1,518 6,300 1,800 9,625 3,844 
Retirements  

and disposals (298) −  −  −  −  (298) −  
Foreign exchange 

differences −  −  22 99 28 149 −  

Balance as at 
April 30, 2015 $ 2,020 $ 657 $ 6,536 $ 6,399 $ 2,191 $17,803 $ 3,844 

Accumulated amortization 
Balance as at  

$ 671 $ 64 $ 121 $ −  $ −  $ 856 $ −  
357 80 174 −  −  611 −  

April 30, 2013 
Amortization 
Retirements and  

disposals (162) −  −  −  −  (162) −  

Balance as at 
April 30, 2014 866 144 295 −  −  1,305 −  

367 102 483 673 −  1,625 −  Amortization 
Retirements and  

disposals (298) −  −  −  −  (298) −  

Balance as at 
April 30, 2015 $ 935 $ 246 $ 778 $ 673 $ −  $ 2,632 $ −  
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10. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued):

Goodwill 

Balance as at April 30, 2014 $ −  

Acquisition of Projection Lighting Limited 15,645 
Foreign exchange differences 224 

Balance as at April 30, 2015 $ 15,869 

Non-cash activities 

Non-cash investing activities have been disclosed in Note 21. 

As at April 30, 2015, the net carrying amount of intangible assets under finance leases and other loans is $178 (2014 - $56). 
During the year ended April 30, 2015, the Company acquired leased assets for $182 (2014 - $56).  

Amortization 

The Company’s consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive income (loss) include amortization of finite-life intangible 
assets of $1,625 for the year ended April 30, 2015 (2014 - $611) classified in cost of sales, selling and marketing, research 
and development and general and administrative expenses. 

2015 2014 

Cost of sales $ 11 $ –  
Selling and marketing 8 363 
Research and development 241 64 
General and administrative 1,365 184 

$ 1,625 $ 611 
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10. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued):

Impairment 

An annual impairment review is conducted on all intangible assets that have an indefinite life and on goodwill.

The Company’s impairment review was carried out at the level of the CGU to which these assets relate to, which was the LP
reportable segment. The recoverable amount of the CGU has been measured based on its value in use, using a discounted
cash flow model. Cash flow projections are based on the annual business plan approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company. In addition, management-developed projections are covering a five-year period. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculation include estimated sales volumes, selling prices and input costs, as well as discount rates, which are based on
estimates of risks associated with the projected cash flows based on the best information available at the date of the impairment
test.

These cash flows are management’s best estimate of future events taking into account past experience and future economic
assumptions. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are projected to increase consistent with the long-term growth
assumptions of the Company considering various factors such as industry growth assumptions. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is derived from the Company’s weighted average cost of capital for LP’s CGU
adjusted for taxes. Key assumptions used for value in use calculations are as follows:

2015 

Pre-tax discount rate 15.0% 
Long-term growth rate 3.0% 

The recoverable amount of LP’s CGU was determined to be higher than its carrying amount and no impairment losses were 
recognized (2014 - nil). The sensitivity analysis indicated that no reasonably possible changes in the assumptions would cause 
the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. 

11.  Bank indebtedness under line of credit:

The Company has an authorized revolving operating line of credit equal to the lower of the borrowing basis established by
the financial institution and $10,000,000 (or the equivalent amount in US dollars) (2014 - $10,000,000) which bears interest
at a rate of prime plus 1.25% (2014 - prime plus 1.25%). The line of credit is renewable annually and an amount of nil
was used as at April 30, 2015 (2014 - nil). The line of credit is secured by first-ranking liens on the universality of the
assets of the Company and are subject to certain restrictions, including the obligation to maintain certain financial ratios at
all times. As at April 30, 2015, the Company was in compliance with the covenants.
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12. Finance lease obligations and other loans:

2015 2014 

Obligations under finance leases and other loans, repayable in blended monthly, 
quarterly, and annual instalments in total amounting to $117 for 2015 (2014 - 
$128), maturing at various dates between 2016 and 2018, bearing interest at 
rates varying between 9.57% and 11.60% $ 266 $ 163 

Current portion 132 55 

$ 134 $ 108 

The principal repayments in each of the following years are as follows: 

2016 $ 132 
2017 103 
2018 24 
2019 7 

Total principal payments $ 266 

Future minimum payments for finance lease obligations and other loans are as follows: 

2015 2014 

Not later than one year $ 145 $ 69 
Later than a year and not later than five years 143 122 

288 191 

Future finance charge (22) (28) 

Present value of finance lease and other loan liabilities $ 266 $ 163 
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13. Financing (income) costs:

2015 2014 

Interest of line of credit $ – $ 287 
Interest on long-term debt –  1,584 
Interest on obligations under capital leases and other loans 16 19 
Interest income (628) –  
Other interest and bank charges 134 82 
Amortization of deferred financing costs –  422 
Net change in fair value of financial derivative liability –  42,067 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (707) 20 

$ (1,185) $ 44,481 

14. Redeemable shares at the option of the holders:

As at April 30, 2015

As at April 30, 2015, there are no outstanding redeemable shares at the option of the holders.

As at April 30, 2014

Prior to the Company’s IPO, there were 38,796,428 Class A preferred shares outstanding that were conditionally redeemable at
the holder’s option and bearing a 6% annual cumulative dividend. These Class A preferred shares have been recorded as a
liability in the consolidated statements of financial position and were accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method. In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy on derivative financial instruments, the liability classified
embedded derivative on the Company’s Class A preferred shares was separated from the debt host contract at issuance at fair
value and subsequently revalued at each reporting date.

On April 14, 2014, the Company completed a reorganization of its share capital, whereby all of the Company’s issued
and outstanding Class A preferred shares were converted into Class A common shares on a one-for-one basis, and the
Company’s articles were then amended to remove the Class A preferred shares from its authorized share capital,
redesignate the Class A Common shares as common shares, consolidate the Class A common shares on a 8.4 to 1 basis
(Note 15), and create and add the preferred shares to the authorized capital. The conversion of the outstanding
Class A preferred shares converted into Class A common shares on a one-for-one basis and the consolidation of the Class A
common shares on a 8.4 to 1 basis resulted in the issuance of 4,618,626 common shares for all of the Class A preferred
shares.

At the date of conversion of the Class A preferred shares, the liability recorded for these shares and the related financial
derivative liability was increased to the fair market value of the common shares issued of $73,898. In 2014, the changes in
the carrying value of the liability and the related derivative of $42,067 were recorded as financing costs in the consolidated
statements of loss and comprehensive income (loss). Upon conversion of the Class A preferred shares into common shares, the
stated capital of the Class A preferred shares recorded as share capital was $26,828. The excess of $47,070 of the
carrying value of the total liability and related derivative over the amount accounted for as share capital was recorded as
contributed surplus.
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14. Redeemable shares at the option of the holders (continued):

As at April 30, 2014 (continued)

Concurrently with the conversion of the Class A preferred shares, the shareholders of the Company have determined that
contributed surplus o f  $47,070 created by the above should reduce the deficit by a corresponding amount.

15. Share capital:

Authorized:

Common shares 

The common shares are voting and participating, without limit as to the number and without par value. 

Preferred shares 

The preferred shares are issuable at any time and from time to time in one or more series. The Board of Directors is 
authorized to determine, before issue, the number, consideration per share, designation and provisions attaching to the 
preferred shares of each series, which may include voting rights, the whole subject to the issue of a certificate of 
amendment setting forth the designation and provisions attaching to the preferred shares or shares of the series. The 
Company currently has an unlimited number of preferred shares authorized, issuable in series, without nominal or par 
value. No preferred shares were issued and outstanding as of April 30, 2015. 

Issued and outstanding: 

2015 2014 

Shares issued and paid: 
23,463,304 common shares (2014 - 23,090,574 common shares) $ 137,740 $135,003 

Transactions during the year ended April 30, 2014 

On April 14, 2014, immediately prior to the completion of the Company’s IPO, all of the Class A preferred shares (Note 
14) were converted into Class A common shares on a one-for-one basis.

On April 14, 2014, immediately prior to the completion of the Company’s IPO, the Company amended its articles to 
consolidate the Class A common shares on a 8.4 to 1 basis. As a result, the historical per share amounts presented in these 
consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this change. 

Prior to the IPO, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a resolution to reduce the contributed surplus by 
$47,070, created by the conversion of the Class A preferred shares into Class A common shares, which resulted in a 
corresponding reduction of the deficit. 

All Class A common shares were then redesignated as common shares. 
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15. Share capital (continued):

On April 15, 2014, the Company completed an IPO and issued 6,250,000 common shares for a total gross consideration
of $100,000. Subsequently, the underwriters exercised their over- allotment option for 937,500 common shares for a total
gross consideration of $15,000. Shares issuance costs amounted to $10,363.

Warrants 

In May 2011, in connection with the USD$3,000 Loan and Security Agreement entered into with Silicon Valley Bank (the
“SVB”), SVB was granted 125,000 warrants to purchase Class A common shares at $0.60 per share. An amount of $20 was
attributed to the warrant account in contributed surplus, representing the residual fair value allocated to the warrant. As at April
30, 2014, as a result of the consolidation of the common shares on a 8.4 to 1 basis and the redesignation of the Class A
common shares, SVB held 14,881 warrants to purchase 10,691 common shares. During the fiscal year ended April 30,
2015, the warrants were exercised.

No warrants were outstanding as of April 30, 2015.

16. Loss per share:

The Company had three categories of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period: share options, warrants
and Class A preferred shares. Diluted loss per share excludes all dilutive potential shares if their effect is anti-dilutive.

As a result of net losses incurred, all potentially dilutive securities listed above have been excluded from the calculation of diluted
loss per share because to include them would be anti-dilutive; therefore, basic and diluted number of shares is the same for the
years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014. All outstanding share options could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future.

2015 2014 

Net loss $ (365) $ (49,178) 

23,463,304 23,090,574 Issued common shares 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 23,277,188 11,796,840 

Loss per common share (basic and diluted) (0.02) (4.17) 

Per share amounts and numbers of outstanding common shares reflect the retrospective application of the 8.4 to 1.0 reverse 
share split declared immediately preceding the Company’s initial public offering on April 15, 2014. 
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17. Share-based compensation:

Stock option plan 

In 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company amended and restated the Stock Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) for
directors, executive officers, employees and consultants providing services to the Company. The principal terms of the amended
and restated Stock Option Plan are as follows:

(a) the maximum number of common shares issuable under this plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding
shares, as calculated on the date of the grant of each option (this does not apply to options granted prior to March 4, 
2014); 

(b) any optionee, at the time of granting of the option, may hold more than one option. However, no optionee will be able to 
hold options to purchase shares exceeding 5% of the number of shares issued and outstanding from time-to-time; 

(c) the exercise price for each share converted by an option shall be established by the Board at the time of grant but shall not 
be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant, which shall be computed by reference to the closing 
market price of the shares on the TSX on the trading day immediately preceding the date of the granting of the option; 

(d) the Board of Directors establishes the term of each option when granted, subject to a maximum term of ten years from the 
date on which it is granted; 

(e) the vesting period in respect of options is determined by the Board of Directors at the time the options are granted. The 
vesting period is approximately four years. The Board of Directors may determine after the grant date that certain options 
shall vest sooner, in whole or in part, for any reason deemed appropriate. 

The number of options and exercise price has been adjusted retroactively to reflect the 8.4 to 1 consolidation basis discussed 
in Note 15. 

A summary of the activity and other information related to the Stock Option Plan for the years ended April 30, 2015 and 
2014 is as follows: 

2015 2014 

Weighted Weighted 
average average 
exercise exercise 

Number price Number price 

Balance, beginning of year 2,725,646 $ 5.04 2,342,929 $ 4.54 
Granted –  –  478,312 7.31 
Exercised (362,039) 4.61 –  –  
Forfeited (24,552) 7.31 (95,595) 4.63 

Balance, end of year 2,339,055 $ 5.08 2,725,646 $ 5.04 
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17. Share-based compensation (continued):

The following table summarizes information regarding share options as at April 30:

Awards outstanding Awards exercisable 
Weighted Weighted 

average average 
remaining Weighted remaining Weighted 

contractual average contractual average 
life exercise life exercise 

Year Quantity (years) price Quantity (years) price 

2015 2,339,055 6.14 $ 5.08 2,111,445 5.93 $ 4.90 
2014 2,725,646 7.92 5.04 2,246,772 7.73 4.75 

The fair values of the options granted during the year ended April 30, 2014 have been determined using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model using the following assumptions: 

Weighted average grant date fair value $ 3.54 
Forfeiture rate 18% 
Grant price $ 7.31 
Share price $ 7.31 
Expected volatility 49.1% 
Risk-free interest rate 2.02% 
Expected dividend yield ‒  
Expected life (years) 6 

Share-based compensation expense amounted to $491 for the year ended April 30, 2015 (2014 - $1,707) and is 
allocated in production, selling and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses. 

2015 2014 

Cost of sales $ 64 $ 87 
Selling and marketing 248 217 
Research and development 13 136 
General and administrative 166 1,267 

$ 491 $ 1,707 
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17. Share-based compensation (continued):

Deferred share unit plan 

In 2014, the Company adopted a deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan for non-executive directors. As at April 30, 2015, on a
cumulative basis, 28,471 DSUs were outstanding (2014 - 12,485).

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015, DSU expense at the grant dates amounted to $174 (2014 - $237),
based on a weighted average grant-date fair value of $16.30 per unit (2014 - $18.56). As at April 30, 2015, the fair value
of the outstanding DSUs amounted to $411 (2014 - $237) and is included in other liabilities.

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015, 15,986 DSUs were issued (2014 - 12,485) and no DSUs were exercised or
cancelled (2014 - nil).

Restricted share unit (“RSU”) 

As at April 30, 2015, 115,655 RSUs were granted and outstanding (2014 - nil).

RSUs vest over a period of three years. The Company intends to settle these units in cash. During the fiscal year ended April 30,
2015, RSU expense amounted to $769 (2014 - nil) and is allocated to selling and marketing, research and development and
general and administrative expenses. The liability for the outstanding RSUs amounted to $769 as at April 30, 2015, $550 is
included in other liabilities and $219 in other long-term liabilities.

Performance share unit plan (“PSU”) 

As at April 30, 2015, 14,781 PSUs were granted and outstanding (2014 - nil).

PSUs vest over a period of three years and are dependent upon the attainment of financial benchmarks. The Company intends
to settle these units in cash.

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015, PSU expense amounted to $58 (2014 - nil) and is allocated in selling and
marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses. The liability for the outstanding PSUs amounted
to $58 as at April 30, 2015 (2014 - nil) and is included in other long-term liabilities.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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18. Expenses by nature:

The expenses by nature are listed as follows:

2015 2014 

Amortization, retirements and disposals $ 3,180 $ 2,092 
Share-based compensation expense and 

share incentive plan expenses 1,492 1,944 
Salaries and benefits (net of tax credits of 

$213 (2014 - $364)) 26,714 17,743 
Consulting fees 3,233 1,076 
Rent 2,574 1,636 
Raw materials 40,613 25,919 
Other expenses 24,505 15,764 

Total cost of sales, selling and marketing, research and 
development and general and administrative expenses $ 102,311 $ 66,174 

Presented as follows: 

Cost of sales $ 57,476 $ 36,356 
Operating expenses 44,835 29,818 

Total $ 102,311 $ 66,174 

19. Related party transactions:

Key management personnel includes the CEO and other Vice-Presidents and Directors of the Company.

The compensation of key management represents:

2015 2014 

Salaries and benefits $ 3,735 $ 2,970 
Termination benefits –  93 
Share-based compensation and share incentive plan 

expenses  339 1,329 
Other long-term benefits 200 237 

$ 4,274 $ 4,629 
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20. Income taxes:

The income tax (recovery) expense consists of the following:

2015 2014 

Current tax expense: 
Current taxes $ 373 $ 880 
Adjustment for prior years (114) (46) 

259 834 

Deferred tax expense: 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (734) 2,147 
Adjustment for prior years 35 76 
Change in unrecognized deductible  

temporary differences 364 (2,320) 

(335) (97) 

$ (76) $ 737 

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the Canadian federal and provincial 
statutory rates to the loss before income taxes. The reasons for the difference and related tax effects are as follows: 

2015 2014 

Loss before income taxes $ (441) $ (48,441) 
Applicable tax rate 26.90% 26.90% 

Income taxes at applicable statutory rate (119) (13,031) 

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from: 
Share-based compensation 84 459 
Income tax effect of non-deductible items and other 266 10,893 
Adjustment for prior years (79) 30 
Effect of different tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 136 66 
Change in unrecognized deductible  

temporary differences (364) 2,320 

Total income tax (recovery) expense $ (76) $ 737 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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20. Income taxes (continued):

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the following temporary differences and
unused tax losses:

2015 2014 

Deferred tax assets: 
Operating losses carried forward $ 608 $ −  
Research and development expenditures 159 409 
Reserves 303 375 
Others 295 185 

1,365 969 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Property, plant and equipment 446 169 
Intangible assets 462 814 
Others 55 − 

963 983 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 402 $ (14) 

Non-current assets $ 488 $ −  
Non-current liabilities (86) (14) 

$ 402 $ (14) 

As at April 30, 2015, the Company has non-capital loss and research and development expenditures carried forward at the 
federal, Québec and UK level, which can be used to reduce taxable income, the benefits of which have been recorded, since 
the Company believes it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilize the 
benefits therefrom: 

Recognized 
Expiry Federal Québec UK 

Non-capital losses 2035 $ 311 $ 340 $ 1,136 
2034 69 11 −  
2033 46 −  −  
2032 −  −  −  
2031 67 89 −  

Research and development 
expenditures Indefinite 240 1,036 –  

$ 733 $ 1,476 $ 1,136 
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20. Income taxes (continued):

As at April 30, 2015, the Company has capital, non-capital loss, research and development expenditures carried forward and
deductible temporary differences, which can be used to reduce taxable income, the benefits of which have not been recorded,
to the extent the Company believes it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can
utilize the benefits therefrom:

Unrecognized 
Expiry Federal Québec 

Non-capital losses 2035 $ 1,433 $ 1,433 
2034 3,645 3,609 
2033 13,747 13,815 
2032 7,094 6,985 
2031 61 61 
2030 −  −  
2029 −  −  

Capital losses Indefinite 1,575 1,575 
Research and development expenditures Indefinite 1,806 2,603 
Other deductible temporary differences 8,509 7,712 

$ 37,870 $ 37,793 

21. Supplemental cash flow information:

(a) Net change in non-cash operating items:

2015 2014 

Accounts receivable $ (4,819) $ (4,526) 
Inventories (8,983) 230 
Investment tax credits receivable (213) 407 
Prepaid expenses and deposits (285) (370) 
Other receivables (205) (108) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,269 1,696 
Other liabilities 1,001 237 

$ (8,235) $ (2,434) 
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21. Supplemental cash flow information (continued):

(b) Non-cash items:

2015 2014 

Unpaid purchase of property, plant and equipment $ 142 $ 38 
Unpaid additions of intangibles 269 51 
Net change of the carrying value of the redeemable 

shares at the options of the holders and related 
financial derivative liability −  42,067 

Non-cash acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
under finance leases 21 −  

Non-cash acquisition of intangibles 
under finance leases 182 56 

22. Financial instruments:

The Company, through its financial assets and liabilities, has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
credit risk, currency risk and liquidity risk. The following analysis provides a measurement of these risks as at April 30, 2015
and 2014, along with the determination of the fair value of financial instruments and how the Company manages these
financial risks.

(a) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk of a counterparty failing to meet its commitments. The Company’s principal financial assets are cash 
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable, which are subject to credit risk. The carrying amounts of financial assets on 
the consolidated statements of financial position represent the Company’s maximum credit exposure. 

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts disclosed in the consolidated 
statements of financial position are net of allowance for doubtful accounts, estimated by the management of the Company 
based on its assessment of the current economic environment. The Company does not have significant exposure to any 
individual customer and has not incurred any significant bad debts during the period. The Company does not have 
significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The 
Company defines counterparties having similar characteristics if they are related entities. Concentration of credit risk related 
to any customer does not exceed 10% of gross monetary assets at any time during the year. 

In order to mitigate credit risk, we currently insure all of the Company’s material receivables from United States customers 
with Export Development Canada while the material receivables from international customers are generally covered by 
letters of credit. 
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22. Financial instruments (continued):

(a) Credit risk (continued):

No individual customer or groups of affiliated customers represented more than 10% of our revenues in 2015. In fiscal 
year 2014, there is one individual customer representing more than 10% of revenues, with 11.67%. 

The aging of accounts receivable as at the end of the reporting years was: 

2015 2014 

Trade receivables: 
Current $ 20,168 $ 11,780 
Past due: 

Aged between 61 - 119 days 1,267 313 
Aged greater than 120 days 826 1,420 

Total trade 22,261 13,513 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (275) (295) 

$ 21,986 $ 13,218 

The credit risk on cash is limited because the counterparties are chartered banks with high credit-ratings assigned by 
national credit-rating agencies. 

(b) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk from the Company’s exposure to increases and decreases in financial instrument values caused 
by fluctuations in interest rates. The risk that the Company will realize a loss as a result of a decline in the fair value of its 
cash and cash equivalents is limited because these investments are very short-term in duration. The Company does not 
believe that the results of operations or cash flows would be affected to any significant degree by sudden change in market 
interest rates relative to fixed interest rates, and the cash and cash equivalents owing to their relative short-term nature. 

The risk that the future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates is 
associated with loans having variable rates of interest. As of April 30, 2015, the Company does not have any loans 
outstanding with variable interest rates. Therefore, the Company’s comprehensive income (loss) will not be impacted by 
fluctuations of the interest rate. 
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22. Financial instruments (continued):

(c) Currency risk:

The Company operated internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency transactions 
mainly USD and GBP. Foreign exchange risk arises primarily from future commercial transactions and the conversion of 
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the Company. 
Sensitivity rate of 5% represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. 
The Company also manages the risk of conversion of monetary assets and liabilities by doing natural hedging when 
possible. No forward contracts were used during the year. 

Based on the sensitivity analysis for the financial year ended April 30, 2015, a 5% increase (decrease) in exchange rates 
of respective currencies would have resulted in an increase (decrease) of approximately $750 in net loss for the year and 
$1,579 in total comprehensive  income (loss). 

The following items included amounts in foreign currencies: 

2015 

USD GBP 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,445 £ 2,193 
Accounts and other receivables 9,246 2,452 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6,916 1,346 

2014 

USD GBP 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 204 £ 19 
Accounts and other receivables 9,460 46 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,997 12 
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22. Financial instruments (continued):

(d) Capital management:

The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure sufficient liquidity to pursue its organic growth strategy, 
fund research and development and provide sufficient resources to meet day-to-day operating demands while at the same 
time taking a prudent approach towards financial leverage and management of financial risk. 

The Company’s capital is composed of a credit facility net of cash and cash equivalents, common shares and 
shareholders’ equity. Senior management and the CEO of the Company are responsible for managing the capital and 
they monitor performance through different ratios such as revenue growth, gross margin, operating spending, working 
capital, inventory turnover, days sales outstanding and days purchases outstanding. Management of the capital is done 
through regular meetings and review of financial information. 

The Company is not subject to any external financial covenants other than the covenants related to its financing facility 
as disclosed in Note 11. 

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year. 

The Company has access to a financing facility as described in Note 11, of which $10,000 were unused at the end of 
the reporting period (2014 - $10,000). 

(e) Determination of fair values: 

Certain of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based 
on the following methods: 

Financial assets and liabilities 

In establishing fair value, the Company uses a fair value hierarchy based on levels as defined below: 

• Level 1: defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in actives markets.

• Level 2: defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable.

• Level 3: defined as inputs that is based on little or no observable market data, therefore requiring entities to develop
their own assumptions.

The Company has determined that the carrying values of its current financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair 
value given the short-term nature of these instruments. 
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22. Financial instruments (continued):

(e) Determination of fair values (continued):

Financial assets and liabilities (continued): 

The fair value of finance lease obligations is determined by discounting future cash flows using a rate that the Company 
can use for loans with similar terms, conditions and maturity dates. The fair value of these loans approximates the carrying 
amounts. 

(f) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The Company 
aims to maintain a sufficient level of its cash and cash equivalents to ensure liquidity to meet liabilities as they come due. 
The Company’s approach consists primarily of monitoring the level of expected cash inflows on accounts receivable, debt 
and equity financing together with expected cash outflows on accounts payable and debt, as well as monitoring budgeted 
expenses. 

The following table details the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for financial liabilities. The table includes both 
interest and principal cash flows. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Company may be 
required to pay. 

2015 

Greater 
Carrying Contractual 0 to 1 to 2 to than 
amount cash flows 12 months 2 years 5 years 5 years 

Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities $ 20,311 $ 20,311 $ 20,311 $ ‒  $ ‒  $ ‒  

961 961 961 ‒ ‒ ‒ Other liabilities 
Other long-term liabilities 277 277 ‒  219 58 ‒ 
Finance lease obligations

and installment contracts 266 288 145 110 33 ‒ 
Operating leases ‒ 7,448 1,739 1,414 2,897 1,398 
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22. Financial instruments (continued):

(f) Liquidity risk (continued):

2014 

Greater 
Carrying Contractual 0 to 1 to 2 to than 
amount cash flows 12 months 2 years 5 years 5 years 

Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities $ 11,410 $ 11,410 $ 11,410 $ ‒ $ ‒  $ ‒  

237 237 237 ‒ ‒ ‒ Other liabilities 
Long-term debt and 

finance lease obligations 163 191 68 64 59 ‒  
Operating leases ‒  4,810 997 860 1,883 1,070 

23. Commitments:

Operating lease arrangements 

The Company leases its head office under an operating lease that expires on April 30, 2021. As part of the lease
arrangements made for this lease, the Company has granted the lessor a moving hypothec in the amount of $328 on the
universality of the corporeal movable property present and future premises (the “movables”). The lessor may exercise its right
under the movable hypothec to satisfy any of the Company’s default under the lease or any other leasing agreement entered
into between these two parties, including without limitation, the leasing of additional premises on the renewal of any leasing
arrangement between the two parties.

Future lease payments aggregate to $7,448 and include the following amounts payable over the term of the lease:

Not later than one year $ 1,739 
Later than one year and not later than five years 4,311 
Later than five years 1,398 

$ 7,448 

24. Comparative information:

Certain comparative information for 2014 has been reclassified to conform with the consolidated financial statement
presentation adopted for 2015.
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